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Sacred Heart School, Mildura
St Brigid’s College, Horsham
St Francis Xavier College Berwick Campus, Berwick
St Francis Xavier School, Ballarat East
St James School, Nar Nar Goon
St Joseph’s College Mildura, Mildura
St Joseph’s School, Quarry Hill
St Joseph’s School, Red Cliffs
St Joseph’s School, Rochester
St Jude’s School, Langwarrin
St Malachy’s School, Edenhope
St Mary’s School, Yarram
St Patrick’s School, Pakenham
St Peter’s College, Cranbourne
St Pius X School, Heidelberg West
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Letter of Transmittal

Most Rev. Peter A Comensoli DD,
Archbishop of Melbourne
Most Rev. Paul B Bird DD,
Bishop of Ballarat
Most Rev. Shane Mackinlay DD,
Bishop of Sandhurst
Most Rev. Greg Bennet DD,
Bishop of Sale

Archbishop Peter, Bishops Bird, Mackinlay and Bennet
On behalf of my fellow directors, I am pleased to present
the Annual Report of the Catholic Education Commission
of Victoria Ltd (CECV) for 2020.
The report provides details of the work of the CECV for
the year. The financial statements are presented, together
with reports and information about the performance and
achievements of Catholic schools in Victoria in 2020.
The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic brought
unprecedented challenges for Catholic education in 2020.
Our schools were asked to make multiple transitions from
onsite to remote and flexible learning. More than a hundred
of our schools were asked to close temporarily to undertake
pandemic-related cleaning after a confirmed COVID-19 case.
In meeting these challenges our principals and teaching and
non-teaching staff helped keep our students and school
communities safe. These efforts limited the educational
impact of the many disruptions, and our schools continued
to deliver a high-quality Catholic education to more than
210,000 students in 499 Catholic schools across the state
of Victoria.

Catholic education continued to expand, with two new
schools joining us, and capital works programs continued
to be delivered against the background of the ongoing
disruption, supporting our schools to deliver the diverse
learning opportunities that ensure our system is defined by
educational excellence.
My fellow directors and I are grateful for your steadfast
commitment to Catholic education.
We continue to value your leadership as we ensure that our
schools authentically express the mission of the Church.
Together with schools, parishes, religious congregations,
diocesan Catholic education personnel and many
other stakeholders, we recommit ourselves to working
collaboratively with you for the improvement of the
Victorian community.
Yours in faith

Most Rev. Terence Curtin DD
Chair
31 August 2021
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Members

Most Rev. PA Comensoli DD

Most Rev. PB Bird DD

Most Rev. Greg Bennet DD1

Archbishop of the
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Bishop of the
Diocese of Ballarat

Bishop of the
Diocese of Sale

Most Rev.
Shane Mackinlay DD
Bishop of the
Diocese of Sandhurst

Most Rev. Greg Bennet DD was appointed Bishop of the Diocese of Sale on 27 June 2020 and ordained as Bishop
of the Diocese of Sale on 8 December 2020. Most Rev. PM O’Regan DD, the former Bishop of the Diocese of Sale,
was installed as the Archbishop of Adelaide on 25 May 2020.
1
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Directors
Title

Most Rev. Terence Curtin
(Chair)

Mr Tim O’Leary
(Deputy Chair)1

Auxiliary Bishop of the
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Executive Director
Stewardship,
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Mr Jim Miles2

Mr Tom Sexton3

Ms Maria Kirkwood

Mr Paul Desmond

Executive Director of
Catholic Education in the
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Director of Catholic Education
in the Diocese of Ballarat

Director of Catholic Education
in the Diocese of Sale

Director of Catholic
Education in the Diocese
of Sandhurst

Mr Francis Moore resigned from the CECV Board effective 12 December 2019 and Archbishop Comensoli
appointed Mr Tim O’Leary, Executive Director Stewardship, Catholic Archdiocese of Melbourne,
as CECV Deputy Chair and Director on 11 February 2020.
1

Mr Miles was appointed as Executive Director of Catholic Education in the Archdiocese of Melbourne on
18 May 2020, after acting in the position from November 2018.
2

Rev. Justin Driscoll

Dr Helga Neidhart RSC

Administrator of St Patrick’s
Cathedral Parish Ballarat

Senior Lecturer,
School of Educational Leadership
Australian Catholic University
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Mr Tom Sexton was appointed Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat effective
17 August 2020. Please note Ms Audrey Brown, the previous Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese
of Ballarat, resigned from the CECV Board, effective 3 July 2020.
3
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Chair’s Report

‘St Joseph,
You were receptive to God working in your life.
Help us by your prayers at this time of trial.’
(Prayer to St Joseph)
The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic significantly
disrupted and changed our school and parish communities
during 2020. It as a year unlike any other in living memory,
as schools and churches were required to restrict access to
physical buildings for extended periods of time and shift to
delivering liturgies and classes virtually.
Our schools were on the frontline of the Victorian
Government’s COVID-19 response, keeping their
communities informed, providing essential care and
supervision services, and supporting members of the
community through quarantine and illness.
With continuity of student learning and student wellbeing
at the heart of all they did, our principals, teachers and
staff rose to those challenges magnificently, often finding
innovative solutions to complex problems in a very
short timeframe.
Their diligence, professionalism and commitment is a credit
to Catholic education in Victoria.

Responding to the disruption of the
COVID-19 pandemic
Catholic schools led the way through innovating with
different teaching and learning approaches. These included
virtual school community choirs that brought families,
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students and staff together; virtual playgrounds; and live
and recorded classes – all in addition to the improved use
of video and technology to engage students and care for
their wellbeing.
However, they could not have achieved this success without
the support of our parent communities. Our principals and
schools are very grateful for all of the support they have
received and feel that school–parent partnerships have been
strengthened by the remote learning experience.
Despite the disruption to onsite learning, Victorian Certificate
of Education (VCE) completion rates at Victorian Catholic
schools remained high at 99.4% and declined by just 0.01%.
This result was higher than the state average.
Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL) and
Vocational Education and Training (VET) completion rates
were also higher than the Victorian average at 91% and
81% respectively.
These results demonstrate the effectiveness of our teaching
and learning and student wellbeing approaches.
The experience of remote learning reinforced the importance
of learning onsite in vibrant Catholic learning communities,
with students and parents greeting the return to school and
establishing connections with teachers and students with
real joy.
Page 7

1. Company Members & Directors

2. Chair’s Report

3. Committee Reports

4. School Achievement

5. Awards

6. Financial Statements

7. Appendices

8. Abbreviations

Title
Chair’s
Report

I would like to take this opportunity to also commend
the schools and students that feature in section five of
this report. The young people and the stories of their
achievements represent some of the best and brightest of
our sector.

Changes at the CECV
We welcomed Monsignor Greg Bennet as the new Bishop
of Sale and company member in June 2020, replacing
Bishop Patrick O’Regan, who was appointed Archbishop
of Adelaide. We thank Bishop O’Regan for his generous
and diligent service to the Diocese of Sale and the mission
of Catholic education in Victoria and wish him well in his
new archdiocese.
Mr Tom Sexton joined the CECV as the Director of
Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat following
Ms Audrey Brown’s decision to step down. We welcome
Mr Sexton to the CECV and farewell Ms Brown after eight
distinguished years of service to the CECV.
We also welcomed Mr Tim O’Leary as Deputy Chair
of the CECV Board, replacing Mr Francis Moore. The
Rev. Justin Driscoll also joined the Board of the CECV,
replacing Rev. Peter Slater. Our gracious thanks to Mr Moore
and Father Peter for their many years of service to the CECV
and Catholic education in Victoria.
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Proud of what it achieved in 2020, the CECV looks
forward to continuing its work to promote and support the
continuing delivery of a high-quality Catholic education in
2021 and beyond.
I would like to acknowledge the extraordinary resilience and
commitment of all those who contributed to the mission of
Catholic education in 2020. My fellow directors and I are
grateful for the tireless efforts of the nearly 30,000 staff in
our schools and Catholic education offices who, alongside
parents, friends, parishes and priests, continue to provide
the young people in our care with the very best education.
Yours in faith

Most Rev. Terence Curtin DD
Chair
31 August 2021
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Audit and Risk Committee

Membership
Mr Tim O’Leary, CECV Director (Chair)
Mr Jim Miles, CECV Executive Director
Vacancy, External representative
Mr John Hurren, External representative

Attendees
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Ms Helen Zeeuwe, Manager, Finance
(School Accounting and Compliance), CEM

Regular invited attendees
Ms Anna Rados, Acting Assistant Director,
Enterprise Services, CEM
Ms Sue Maughan, Team Leader, Compliance and Risk, CEM
Mr Daniel Nguyen, Manager,
Finance and Information Management, CEM

Role and activities
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) assists the board in
monitoring the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Ltd (CECV) decisions and actions through its oversight of
the integrity of the financial statements and the effectiveness
of the systems of internal control and risk management.
In performing this role, the ARC focuses on the appointment,
remuneration, performance, and independence of external and
internal auditors; the integrity of the audit processes as a whole;
the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk
management; compliance with legal and statutory requirements;
and compliance by management with board delegations.
The ARC met three times during 2020, with all meetings
offered and delivered online due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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One meeting earlier in March could not proceed due to a
quorum not being reached, but committee papers for this
meeting were circulated.
Tim O’Leary commenced as the Committee Chair from
1 January 2020, as appointed by the CECV Board.
The committee’s major work was directed towards:
 the integrity of financial statements and government
grant acquittals
The ARC evaluated the appropriateness of accounting
policies and practices, compliance with Accounting
Standards and the external audit results. It reviewed
the annual financial statements and recommended their
adoption to the board. In addition to the statutory financial
reports, the ARC also reviewed, with management, the
acquittal of Australian and state government recurrent
and targeted program grants for the Victorian Catholic
education system in accordance with its legislative
requirements and funding agreements. These also
align with the ACARA My School finance data reporting
requirements that are derived from the Australian
Government Department of Education, Skills and
Employment financial questionnaire.
 managing the relationship with the external auditor
The ARC continued its independent, professional
relationship with Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu (Deloitte)
through the external audit cycle – from planning the audit to
the receipt of the financial accounts and management letter.
 managing the relationship with the internal auditor
The ARC continued an independent, professional
relationship with KPMG through the internal audit process.
 ensuring the effectiveness of the systems of internal
control and risk management and reviewing the
Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON) project and
associated risks, including the progress to date of the
rollout of ICON to schools along with more regular
reporting to the CECV Board

The ARC is responsible for reviewing internal controls and
risk management systems. To this end, the ARC:
» received the unqualified external audit service plan
from Deloitte concerning the CECV audit for the period
ended 31 December 2020
» reviewed school audit reports for those with qualified
audit opinions (nil in 2020)
» monitored the CECV’s risk reporting protocols to
ensure risk identification, measurement and mitigation
activities are accurately and appropriately reported via
the CECV risk register
» reviewed the CECV Risk Management Framework
» reviewed the insurance policies held for the CECV
» received reports from KPMG for the following internal
audit projects:
a. emergency management
b. Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)
c. ICON rollout health check
d. census process
e. Victorian Regulation and Qualifications Authority
(VRQA) compliance
f. accounts payable
g. GST and FBT compliance
» received and reviewed updates to ensure compliance
with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission (ACNC)
» received a briefing on the ICON program governance
structure and program risks
» reviewed the terms of reference and annual work plan
for the ARC that were presented and endorsed by the
CECV Board
» complied with legal and statutory requirements
to ensure the CECV met its obligations under the
various legislative requirements and federal and state
government funding arrangements.
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Grants Allocation Committee
(Primary)

Membership
Mr Jim Miles, CECV Executive Director (Chair)
Ms Audrey Brown, CECV Director (resigned June 2020)
Mr Tom Sexton, CECV Director (commenced September 2020)
Mr Paul Desmond, CECV Director
Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director
Mr David Wilkes, Chief Financial Officer, CEM
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director,
Finance and Administration, CEO Ballarat
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer, CEO Sale
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director, Finance and
Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Helen Zeeuwe, Manager, Finance
(School Accounting and Compliance), CEM

Role and activities
The Grants Allocation Committee (Primary) (GAC(P)) is the
approved CECV authority for the receipt and distribution of
recurrent grants to all Catholic primary schools in Victoria.
The CECV receives recurrent grants from the Australian and
state governments. The GAC(P) recommends principles of
allocation based on a primary school’s assessed needs after
deducting notional fees and other recurrent income, referred
to as ‘capacity to contribute’.
The committee met four times during 2020 and managed
a budget of $1,483m in funding to a total of 396 primary
schools (including two primary schools with secondary
classes). This included: $78.75m in socio-educational
disadvantage loading – an increase of $3.75m (5%) in
comparison to 2019; Health Care Card support of $32.7m;
and $15.1m provided to schools in the form of interest
factor support.
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Contributions were also made to the Grants Allocation
Committee (Target Programs) (GAC(TP)) in the following areas:

The GAC(P) also approved the following revised changes to
the 2021 GAC(P) CTC:

 $158.8m for the Nationally Consistent Collection of
Data on Students with Disability (NCCD)
The GAC(P) determined that assistance to the NCCD
program would be increased to ensure these funds more
adequately met integrated students’ needs. The actual
amount of additional NCCD-SWD expenditure for 2020
was $158.8m ($139.7m in 2019), of which, $31.5m was
funded by the 2019 GAC(P) budget. An additional $25.7m
was distributed in 2020 as an early release for schools’
2021 NCCD entitlement.
 $3.1m for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students
(an increase of 8.8%)
 $3.2m for student and family engagement (an increase
of 3%)
 $22.8m for literacy and numeracy (an increase of 2.9%)
 $3m for the refugee strategy (this is similar to the
2019 figure)
 $0.54m for Languages strategy Now We’re Talking
(a decrease of 78.5%; the reduction is due to $1.5m
being funded by state government facilitation targeted
grant funding)
 $3.55m for newly arrived students (a decrease of 37.9%
due to the impact of COVID-19).

 A new CtC per pupil ratio will be implemented for 2021
due to the introduction of the DMI score.
 Current, existing SES rankings for 2021 CtC is also
indexed on the 2020 rate, with a lower percentage to
recognise challenges around fee collection for families
attending Victorian Catholic primary schools due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Capacity to contribute 2020 and 2021
The expected local contribution decreased to $142m in 2020
($148m in 2019). This was due to the introduction of the
Direct Measure of Income (DMI) score in 2020 as one of the
factors to determine the level of capacity to contribute (CtC)
at each school. The CtC score for 2020 was derived from the
lowest of the 2016 and 2011 socio-economic status (SES)
derived scores and the 2020 DMI score.

Indexation increase 2021

2020

CtC > 112

3.00%

CtC > = 105

5%

105 = < CtC < = 112

2.00%

CtC < 105

3%

CtC < 105
1.00%
 A CtC maintenance plan is built in for the 2021 budget to
ensure that, with the transition from the previous rate to
the new CtC, no school will be disadvantaged with the
new method in 2021, with schools transitioning to the new
CtC line by 2029.
The CECV funding guide Allocating government grants to
Catholic schools in Victoria was reviewed in 2020 to meet
regulatory requirements and provide information on the
processes and formulae used by the CECV to allocate
government grants. The guide is available on the CECV
website www.cecv.catholic.edu.au under Publications
and provides a summary, as well as descriptive and
high-level information. The guide is published annually
and covers capital grants and recurrent grants and
highlights the extensive accountabilities and transparency
reporting requirements.
Data on individual school allocations is available on
the Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting
Authority (ACARA) My School website or the ACNC public
charity website.
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Grants Allocation Committee
(Secondary)

Membership

Role and activities

Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director of
Catholic Education, CEO Ballarat
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer, CEO Sale
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer, CEM
Ms Julie Ryan, Regional Director, Marist Schools Australia
Mr Eugene Lynch, Executive Officer, Mercy Education Ltd
(resigned February 2020)
Mr Peter Kelly, Ministry Leader, Mary Aikenhead Education
Australia (appointed February 2020)
Mr John Finn, Principal, St Bede’s College, Mentone
Mrs Mary Fitzgerald, Principal, Mater Christi College, Belgrave
Mr John Freeman, Principal, Lavalla Catholic College, Traralgon
Ms Michelle Cotter, Principal,
Avila College, Mount Waverley
Mr Peter Riordan, Principal, Simonds Catholic College,
West Melbourne
Mr Christopher Caldow, Principal,
Penola Catholic College, Glenroy
Mr Darren Tan, Business Partner Lead, Secondary, CEM
(non-voting service member)

The Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary) (GAC(S)) is
the approved CECV authority for the distribution of recurrent
grants to systemically-funded secondary schools.
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The CECV receives recurrent grants from the Australian and
state governments, in which the GAC(S) then redistributes
to member schools on a needs-based funding formula. The
GAC(S) formula for 2020 was approved by GAC(S) during 2015,
after work completed by the Funding Formula Review Group.
This formula uses the School Resourcing Standard (SRS) per
pupil as its base, to which is added needs-based loadings as
specified by the Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth).
A school’s CtC is taken into account, as well as coresponsibility, shared services and targeted area deductions.
Specific allocations (Health Care Card and interest factor)
are added back to the total to determine Australian and state
government grants for each school.
Other forms of funding allocated by the GAC(S) are:
 a school’s interest factor, which is calculated according to
the GAC(S) interest factor policy, which was last updated
in February 2018. For approved loans, the interest
factor from 2016 was dependent upon when the loan
commenced drawing down. A rate of 1.5% above the
average Reserve Bank of Australia cash rate for the prior
year (2.67% for 2020) is applied
 the Health Care Card (HCC) factor is based on eligible
HCC holders, enabling schools to offer enrolment to
a broader range of students from all socioeconomic
backgrounds. The HCC factor in 2020 represented a
payment of $2,682 per secondary student and $1,737
per primary student

 establishment grants, also known as the ‘assistance to
new schools allocation’, which provide additional systemic
funding to new schools (and campuses required due to
enrolment growth) in their first five years.
The GAC(S) committee met six times during 2020.
The GAC(S) managed a budget of $1,295,923,628 (after
deductions including a capacity to contribute factor
of $372,204,547). This included $13,653,787 provided
to schools for approved interest factor support and
$34,904,147 for the Health Care Card factor. The GAC(TP)
received an allocation of $2,200,000 for students with
disability and other targeted areas funding.

Key GAC(S) items and decisions in 2020
The key items and decisions for GAC(S) were:
 GAC(S) downward transition pathway
The SRS is an Australian Government estimate of how
much total public funding a school requires to meet its
students’ education needs. Non-government schools
funded above their target SRS rate will be transitioned to
their appropriate funding share by 2029.
In line with this, a GAC(S) downward transition pathway
has been approved by the committee, where GAC(S)
member schools who are ‘overfunded’ would reach their
‘target funding share’ by 2029. The minimum target funding
share for each overfunded school will be based on an
approximation of the SRS model, including both Australian
and state government recurrent funding. This ensures
alignment with the Australian Government’s SRS transition
model, and that the relevant GAC(S) member schools are
not disadvantaged by being part of the system.
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Grants Allocation Committee
(Secondary)

 GAC(S) 2020 budget surplus
The GAC(S) 2020 budget was $17.9m in surplus due to
the following factors:
a. The 2020 DMI scores released earlier in 2020 were
either lower or equal to the CECV SES derived scores
which were initial estimates issued to GAC(S) member
schools. This meant a total reduction in the system’s
expected overall CtC score as calculated according to
the Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth).
b. A risk reserve was placed to deal with the yearly
system student reduction between February and
August each year. However, due to the pandemic
conditions of 2020, there was only a student reduction
of approximately 600 students last year, compared to
832 students in 2019.
c. August 2020 census results had a higher percentage
of GAC(S) students in the funded NCCD loading
categories. In total, 12.6% of students were in the
funded NCCD loading categories in 2020 compared
to 11.3% in 2019. In total, the 2020 NCCD loading
attracted (100% SRS) for GAC(S) member schools
increased by $21.5m (23%) to $114.2m (2019: $92.7m).
As schools are funded based on their prior year NCCD
loading amounts instead of current year results, this
contributed to the GAC(S) 2020 budget surplus.
The committee approved the application of the budget
surplus for the following funding items, in order of priority:
a. Transition realignment (TR) maximum of $0 for schools
with <500 students
» Transition realignment (TR) maximum contributions
for schools with less than 500 students is reduced
to $0 for 2020. This was to alleviate the burden to
low enrolment GAC(S) member schools and increase
their total GAC(S) funding entitlement.
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b. 2020 coronavirus assistance funding
» All remaining funds, which totalled $17.9m, were
used to provide 2020 coronavirus assistance funding
to GAC(S) member schools.
» The funding was to assist all GAC(S) member
schools who had incurred significant unexpected
costs in 2020 due to the pandemic, including the
provision of flexible and remote learning, enhanced
cleaning, school fee relief, etc.
» The funding was allocated to schools proportionally,
based on the total percentage of recurrent funding
received from the GAC(S) pool of funds.
 2021 funding guarantees
a. Schools with a CtC of 105 and below
Schools with a CtC score of less than 106 will be
provided with a 3% minimum indexation per student
guarantee, which excludes the Australian Education
Act 2013 loadings and GAC(S) other funding factors.
The following schools are excluded from receiving the
3% minimum indexation guarantee:
» schools with an overall per student funding increase
of 3% or more
» schools with a 2021 CtC score that is greater than
their 2020 CtC score.

The CECV funding guide Allocating government grants to
Catholic schools in Victoria was reviewed in 2020 to meet
regulatory requirements and provide information on the
processes and formulae used by the CECV to allocate
government grants. The guide is available on the CECV
website www.cecv.catholic.edu.au under Publications and
provides a summary, as well as descriptive and high-level
information. The guide is published annually and covers capital
grants and recurrent grants and highlights the extensive
accountabilities and transparency reporting requirements.
Data on individual school allocations are available on
the Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting
Authority (ACARA) My School website or the ACNC public
charity website.

b. Schools with a CtC of 106 and above
Schools with higher CtC scores may receive a per
student funding decrease. However, additional
funding will be provided to these schools if the CECV
secondary funding formula calculates a larger decrease
compared to the Australian Government’s SRS model.
c. Transitional realignment (TR) maximum for low
enrolment schools (<500 students)
» TR maximum contributions for schools with less than
500 students is reduced to $0 for 2021.
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Grants Allocation Committee
(Targeted Programs)

Membership

Roles and activities

Responsibilities

Ms Audrey Brown, CECV Director (Chair)
(resigned June 2020)
Mr Tom Sexton, CECV Director (Chair)
(commenced September 2020)
Ms Judy Connell, Manager, Learning Diversity,
CEM (Executive Officer)
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Dr Mary Oski, Director, Leadership Services, CEM
Ms Sandra Harvey, Assistant Director,
System Improvement, CEO Ballarat
Ms Julie Duynhoven, Assistant Director, Finance and
Administration, CEO Ballarat
Ms Catherine Dillon, Deputy Director, Learning and
Teaching, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Ben Higgins, Assistant to the Director,
Finance and Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Martin Keogh, Manager,
Learning and Teaching, CEO Sale
Mr Peter White, Catholic Religious Victoria Representative
Mr Rodney Kwok, Chief Financial Officer, CEO Sale
Ms Mishele Allen, Executive Assistant, Learning Services,
CEM (Minutes Secretary)

The Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)
(GAC(TP)) is the approved authority for the receipt and
distribution of targeted area funding from the Australian
and state governments to Victorian Catholic primary
and secondary schools. The GAC(TP) is responsible for
determining the distribution model for each targeted
program (including central costs) and whether the program is
statewide or diocesan based.

The GAC(TP) is responsible for:

Attendees
Dr Simon Lindsay, Manager,
Improved Learning Outcomes, CEM
Mr Dennis Torpy, Manager, Student Wellbeing, CEM
Mr Daniel Nguyen, Manager,
Finance and Information Management, CEM
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The GAC(TP) provides advice on the administration of
targeted programs policy and advice and associated grants
in accordance with Australian Government legislation. The
GAC(TP) processes are published in the GAC(TP) Reference
Guide annually and audited against the Australian Education
Act 2013 (Cth), and/or Victorian Government legislation
and Funding and Service Agreements (FSA) entered into
by the CECV and the Victorian Government Department of
Education and Training (DET).
The GAC(TP) meets at least four times per year, including a
designated meeting to discuss the budgets for the following
year, and reports to the CECV Board.

 determining the distribution model for targeted programs
and whether the program is statewide or based on a
diocesan-share calculation
 ensuring with GAC(P) and GAC(S) that the CECV meets its
financial and educational accountability to the Australian
and Victorian governments for each targeted program,
and for allocations approved by GAC(P) and GAC(S) to be
administered by GAC(TP)
 ensuring the equitable distribution of targeted recurrent
funding to Catholic schools in Victoria
 assigning an area manager to each of the CECV
targeted areas to manage the operations of the specific
targeted program, including the development of program
implementation advice for schools
 reviewing recommendations and submissions by the
relevant area managers or working groups of a targeted
program requesting additional funding from GAC(P) and/
or GAC(S) for their approval
 reviewing the actual financial results for the targeted
programs administered by GAC(TP) against the budgeted
figures on a quarterly basis
 ensuring that Catholic schools in Victoria are adequately
resourced to meet the educational objectives of the
Australian and state governments
 ensuring that Catholic schools in Victoria have
relevant program and policy advice required for local
implementation.
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Grants Allocation Committee
(Targeted Programs)

Structure
The GAC (TP) comprises nine working groups:








Students with disability (NCCD and student support services)
New arrivals/EAL students and refugees
inter-diocesan Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students
Student wellbeing
National School Chaplaincy Program
Out-of-home care
Vocational Education and Training (VET) and
Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL)
 Languages
 Literacy/numeracy.

The Record of Student Adjustment and Evaluation
(ROSAE) software application was launched in 2020. The
application facilitates the electronic recording of meetings,
Personalised Learning Plans, tracking and monitoring student
progress over time, engagement with families and external
professionals, and referrals or requests for consultation for
student support services. The application is available for use
by all Victorian Catholic schools and diocesan staff involved
in the provision of direct services to students.
The SWD/NCCD working party developed a formal CECV
submission to the Australian Government Review of
the Disability Standards for Education. The submission

addressed the implementation and effectiveness of disability
standards, compliance with the regulations and areas for
further strengthening, and highlighted the benefits and
challenges of implementing the standards.
During 2020 all working parties were extensively focused
on supporting access and participation in education for
students given the extenuating circumstances presented
by the COVID-19 pandemic. All working parties produced
educational materials, webinars, Powtoon animations,
guidance and advice to support Catholic schools in
their endeavour to engage students and families in rich
educational experiences.

The working parties continue to work collaboratively to
provide guidance and advice to Victorian Catholic schools
related to key areas of focus. In 2020, a suite of materials was
developed to support schools in conducting effective Program
Support Group meetings. The materials acknowledge that
foundational to Catholic schools and our work with students,
families and communities is the building of genuine, authentic
relationships. For students with diverse learning needs and
where additional adjustments, interventions, participation or
access considerations are required, active engagement and
partnership with families is important.

Annual Report 2020
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Employment Relations Committee

Membership

Role and activities

COVID-19 assistance and resources

Ms Maria Kirkwood, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Kate Roberts, Manager, Employee Relations,
CEM representative (Executive Officer from October 2019)
Ms Nancy Bicchieri, General Legal Counsel, CEM
(non-voting member)
Ms Angela Jones, CEO Ballarat representative
Rev. Marcello Colasante, Parish Priest, North Ballarat
and Wendouree (Ballarat employer representative)
Rev. Andrew Fewings, Parish Priest, St Therese’s,
Kennington (Sandhurst employer representative)
Mr Christopher Houlihan, Chief Executive Officer, Mercy
Education (The Catholic Religious Institute and Ministerial
Public Juridic Person Victorian Schools representative)
Mr John Jordan, Executive Manager, Industrial Relations
and Human Resources (CEO Sale representative)
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director, CEO Sandhurst
(CEO Sandhurst representative)
Mr David Leslie, Principal, Mary MacKillop Catholic Regional
College, Leongatha (Principals Association of Victorian
Catholic Secondary Schools representative)
Ms Debra Punton, Deputy Director, CEO Sale
(CEO Sale representative)
Mr Michael Pountney, CEM representative
Members of the CECV Employee Relations (ER) unit attended
as required.

The Employment Relations Committee (ERC) is accountable
to the CECV Board for setting the overall policy context and
framework for industrial relations within the Victorian Catholic
school system. It makes recommendations relating to the
pay and conditions of employees in the Victorian Catholic
education system to the CECV Board.

During 2020, the ER unit created the ‘COVID-19 Frequently
Asked Questions’ section on the CECV website to assist and
guide schools during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition to
this, the Agile Working Guidelines template was released to
assist schools as they moved into periods of remote learning,
as well as the CECV Guidelines COVID-19 Miscellaneous
Paid Leave which contained recommendations regarding the
working arrangements of employees in its schools, during
the pandemic.
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The ERC acts to represent the interests of employers in
Catholic education by:
 monitoring the nature and quality of services offered by
the ER unit
 providing a forum and giving direction to those directly
negotiating with the Independent Education Union Victoria
Tasmania (IEU) on behalf of employers
 assisting in advising employers in Catholic education
about matters relating to the employment of staff
 overseeing changes that may need to be negotiated and
built into the current industrial instrument as a result of
changes in legislation and regulations
 preparing and making resources available for employers.
The ERC held four meetings during 2020, with one meeting
held on the papers.
The ER unit, under the direction of the ERC, continued to
provide industrial relations and occupational health and
safety (OHS) services to Catholic schools across Victoria
under a Service Level Agreement with the CECV.

NOUS Workload Review Working Party
Following on from receiving the NOUS Workload Review
Report in 2018, the CECV and the IEU agreed to establish
a joint working party to review the report and to consider
ways in which to address identified issues relating to teacher,
principal and deputy principal workloads. A representative
from the ER unit coordinated the work of this working party.
During 2020, the working party, following extensive
consultation, developed the Improving workload
management practices across the Catholic education system
in Victoria recommendations report.

Occupational health and safety
and WorkCover
The OHS Reference Group is a consultative forum
established by the ERC to discuss statewide OHS and
WorkCover issues in Catholic schools in order to facilitate
communication of, and solutions to, those issues. The ER
unit coordinated two virtual meetings of the OHS Reference
Group in 2020.
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Employment Relations Committee

OHS activities undertaken by the ER unit in 2020 included:
 developing and updating extensive supporting
materials and addressing school queries in relation to
COVID-19 management
 conducting 13 face-to-face (prior to COVID-19 restrictions)
and 15 virtual school safety assessments schools (during
COVID-19 restrictions), assisting schools with preparations
for the VRQA Minimum Standards review
 adapting the ‘OHS for school leaders’ and
‘WorkCover 101’ training sessions to an online format to
allow for continuity of training for school leadership during
COVID-19 restrictions
 developing and updating online school safety resources
for publication on the CECV website
 collaborating with relevant persons to assist in the
multidisciplinary management of complex issues and
challenging behaviours of students, staff and parents
in schools.

Other initiatives
In addition, in 2020, the Employee Relations unit:
 continued their work in supporting the CECV Salary and
Conditions Board to develop a proposal for a revised
classification structure for secondary principals
 provided advice to the CECV Board, in collaboration with
ERC members from Diocese of Sale Catholic Education
Ltd (DOSCEL), regarding matters relating to long service
leave as provided for in the Victorian Catholic Education
Multi-Enterprise Agreement 2018 (VCEMEA 2018)

 delivered numerous training sessions for principals and
school staff on various employee relations matters
 created a number of new resources in relation to the
VCEMEA 2018, as well as guidance materials to assist
stakeholders with their reporting and/or legal obligations
to various regulatory bodies/under legislative schemes.

Consultancy
Throughout 2020, the ER unit continued to provide a
consultancy service to employers, principals and Catholic
education offices. The ER unit dealt with requests for advice
that ranged from queries about salary assessments and
leave entitlements to complex matters involving performance
management and termination of employment.

Advocacy and legal representation
In 2020, the ER unit continued to provide assistance to
schools through advocacy and legal representation in
matters before the Fair Work Commission and the federal
court. The unit also supported schools to reach agreed
negotiated outcomes during and following a number of
complex litigious matters.
Annual Report 2020
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Review Body Committee

Membership

Role and activities

Mr Paul Desmond, CECV Director (Chair)
Ms Anna Rados, Acting Assistant Director,
Enterprise Services, CEM (Executive Officer)
Ms Trish Miller, Assistant to the Director, Planning,
Resources & Governance, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Mary Oski, Director, Learning Services, CEM
Dr Sandra Harvey, Assistant Director:
System Improvement, CEO Ballarat
Ms Deb Punton, Nominee,
Director of Catholic Education, CEO Sale
Mr Damien Casamento, Principal, St Paul’s School,
Sunshine West, Victorian Association of Catholic Primary
School Principals Inc. (VACPSP) representative
Dr Michelle Cotter, Principals’ Association of Victorian
Catholic Secondary Schools (PAVCSS) representative
Mr Jeff Burn, Executive Officer/Company Secretary,
Catholic Religious Institute and Ministerial Public Juridic
Persons Representative
Fr Brendan Reed, Parish Priest nominated by the CECV Board

The CECV Review Body Committee (RBC) was established
to ensure that the CECV fulfils its responsibilities as a
review body in accordance with the requirements of the
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the CECV
and the VRQA. The relationship with the VRQA continues to
be cooperative and positive, with meetings held during the
year as needed to discuss particular topics, emerging issues
or compliance-related matters.
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The relationship with the VRQA was particularly important
during 2020 as the CECV navigated the challenges of
the COVID-19 pandemic and the governance reforms
being undertaken so that Victorian Catholic schools were
incorporated, or governed by an incorporated entity.
These reforms were in accordance with Royal Commission
into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse
(Recommendation 16.6) and the recommendations of the
Betrayal of Trust Parliamentary Inquiry, that included a
requirement that organisations providing services to children
be incorporated and appropriately insured by 1 January 2021
in order to enter into funding agreements.

In 2020, schools were supported with clear, accurate and
timely information to assist them to understand and meet
their regulatory compliance requirements. The RBC met four
times during 2020 and its activities included:
 developing Catholic school registration application forms
to reflect the particular governance models that exist in
Catholic schools
 implementing a platform that automates the production of
the annual report to the school community
 conducting a school reviewer training day on compliance
with the Minimum Standards, which involved staff and
school reviewers from all dioceses
 submitting applications to the VRQA for the registration
of new schools and the amendment of registration of
existing schools
 supporting and providing guidance to dioceses and
schools making applications to register or amend the
proprietor of schools in relation to the governance reforms
required in accordance with Recommendation 16.6 from
the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to
Child Sexual Abuse and the recommendations of the
Betrayal of Trust Parliamentary Inquiry
 maintaining a schedule of periodic school reviews to
ensure that all Victorian Catholic schools are reviewed for
compliance against the Minimum Standards
 promoting the importance of compliance with the
Minimum Standards through regular communication,
updates and development of resources
 providing compliance reports to the VRQA by the due
date in accordance with the MoU.
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Integrated Catholic Online Network
Working Group

Membership
Mr Jim Miles, Executive Director,
CEM and CECV Member (Chair)
Mr David Bristow, Independent Business Consultant
Mr Tom Sexton, Director, Catholic Education,
Diocese of Ballarat and CECV Member
Mr Paul Desmond, Director, Catholic Education,
Diocese of Sandhurst and CECV Member
Ms Maria Kirkwood, Director, Catholic Education,
Diocese of Sale and CECV Member
Mr Simon Mitchell-Wong,
Director and Chief Digital Officer, CEM
Mr David Wilkes, Director and Chief Financial Officer,
Business Advisory Services, CEM
Mr Darren Atkinson, Principals’ Association of Victorian
Catholic Secondary Schools (PAVCSS) representative
Ms Leonie Keaney, Catholic Religious Institute and
Ministerial Public Juridic Person Victorian Schools Ltd

improvement of all Victorian Catholic schools in both
administrative and school performance domains.
The ICON Working Group met five times in 2020 to consider
detailed ICON strategies and services. This included
the execution of ICON contracts, oversight of the ICON
project budget, project risk mitigation strategies, ICON
implementation strategies, and timeline and stakeholder
communications.
Significant work in 2020 included:

 the endorsement and monitoring of the progressive rollout
of ICON eAdmin, bringing the total number of schools on
ICON eAdmin to 200
 the endorsement of a five-year extension to the license
and maintenance agreement with TechnologyOne
 the endorsement of a five-year managed service
agreement with Infosys
 the endorsement of the continued license and
management agreement with Synergetic for six months.

 the endorsement and monitoring of the ICON three-year
development plan (2021 to 2023)

Attendees
Mr Philip Roe, ICON Chief Information Officer, CEM
Mr Ian Johnston, ICON Program Manager, CEM
Mrs Kaye Byrne, ICON Business/
Stakeholder Liaison Manager, CEM
Mr Ken Fox, Battiston Consulting

Role and activities
The CECV, as advised by the CECV Integrated Catholic
Online Network (ICON) Working Group, is the authority
responsible for delivery of the ICON program. The ICON
initiative is a collaborative project between Victorian Catholic
schools and the four Victorian Catholic education offices in
the Archdiocese of Melbourne and the dioceses of Ballarat,
Sale and Sandhurst. ICON aims to support the systemic
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Enhancing Catholic School Identity
Steering Committee

Membership

Role

Activities

Rev. Dr Brendan Reed, Parish Priest Catholic Archdiocese
Melbourne (Chair)
Dr Paul Sharkey, Director, Catholic Mission,
People and Culture, CEM
Ms Maria Kirkwood, Director, Catholic Education
Diocese of Sale, CECV Director
Mr John Meneely, Deputy Director, Catholic Education
Diocese of Ballarat
Sr Geraldine Larkins RSM, Deputy Director, Mission
and Identity, Catholic Education Diocese of Sandhurst
Mrs Margaret McKenna, Nominee of CRMV Ltd
Mr Leon Colla, Principal, St Mary of the Cross, Point Cook,
Nominee of Victorian Association Catholic Primary School
Principals (VACPSP)
Ms Karen Jebb, Principal, Emmaus College, Vermont
South, Nominee of Principal Association Victorian Catholic
Secondary Schools (PAVCSS)
Mr Tony Byrne, Consultant,
Catholic Education Services, CEM
Mr Paul Fumei, Education Officer, Catholic Identity, CEM
Ms Leeanne Hounsell, CEM (Minutes Secretary)

The Enhancing Catholic School Identity (ECSI) Steering
Committee continues to play a critical role in highlighting
the mission and identity of Catholic education offices and
schools across the four Victorian dioceses. More than ECSI
alone, the committee seeks to develop and support a vision
for Catholic education in the pluralising context that is our
reality today.

The ECSI Steering Committee is committed to strengthening
Catholic identity across systems and is currently supporting
the following initiatives:

Retirement – Monsignor Thomas Doyle A.O.
In late 2019, Monsignor Thomas Doyle A.O. announced
his retirement from the role of Chair of the ECSI Steering
Committee which he held from the inception of the
committee in 2006.
In 2006, the CECV, under the guidance of Monsignor Doyle,
then Director of Catholic Education Melbourne (1979–2010),
embarked on a partnership with the Catholic University
Leuven (KU Leuven), Belgium to undertake research related
to Catholic school identity.
The ECSI research, now in its fifteenth year, has had a
positive impact not only in Victorian Catholic education
offices and schools, but has gained interest and buy-in from
other dioceses in Australia, Belgium, the Netherlands, the
Philippines, the United States of America and the United
Kingdom, as well as in numerous universities here and abroad.
In late 2021, the ECSI Steering Committee will recognise
Monsignor Doyle’s significant contribution to Catholic
education through the publication of a book of essays in
his honour.
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 the development of an ECSI data transfer protocol to
facilitate the transfer of ECSI data from KU Leuven to local
Victorian Catholic education offices has been finalised.
Interrogation of local ECSI data will allow each of the
Victorian dioceses to explore their specific questions
as they relate to the Catholic identity of any and all
respondent groups within their diocese
 the approval by the Steering Committee in collaboration
with KU Leuven of two research projects:
» the CECV with the Australian Institute of Family Studies
project – under the leadership of Prof Bosco Rowland –
is progressing as it examines the social and emotional
health of students attending Catholic schools
» Catholic Education Melbourne with the Australian
Catholic University project – under the leadership of
Prof Peta Goldburg and Dr Margaret Carswell – is
progressing as it examines the responses of students
with English as an Additional Language (EAL) to the
ECSI Post-Critical Belief questions
 analysis of the KU Leuven report On the Significance
of the Personal Prayer Life of Students and Staff for an
Enhanced Catholic School Identity and the development
of an executive summary to accompany that report
 preparation for the 2021 analysis of the KU Leuven report
On the Profile of Priests Involved in Catholic Education in
Victoria and the development of an executive summary to
accompany that report
 preparation for the development of a paper On the Vision
and Purpose of Catholic Education in Victoria in 2021
 promotion of the Whole School Prayer Renewal Project
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Enhancing Catholic School Identity
Steering Committee

 establishment of the Australian ECSI Professional
Learning Consortium as an informal grouping of those
that participate in the ECSI survey and research across
Australia. Membership is comprised of the Catholic
dioceses of Victoria, Queensland, South Australia,
Parramatta and Western Australia, alongside the Catholic
Theological College, Australian Catholic University
and our partners at the Catholic University Leuven
(KU Leuven). Over several sessions during October,
the consortium gathered for an online colloquium that
included professional learning and the progressing of
action lines. A significant highlight of the colloquium
was the opportunity to listen to stories of innovative
practice taking place in Catholic education offices and
schools. In every instance, the productive efforts of staff
to strengthen the mission and identity of our Catholic
schools was highly evident.

The 2019 CECV Annual Report indicated that the ECSI
Survey would be simplified by replacing a series of textbased questions in the Post-Critical Belief (PCB) Scale with
images, asking survey respondents to react intuitively to
those images. Colleagues at KU Leuven have reported that
the series of images and questions associated with the PCB
Scale have been statistically validated. The new PCB Scale
images and questions now replace the text-based version for
all survey respondents.

Colleagues at KU Leuven will continue to simplify the ECSI
Survey. In 2020, the Victoria Scale text-based questions
were reconsidered. The new questions will again ask survey
respondents to react intuitively to a series of images. Trialling
will take place in 2021 and, once statistically validated, will
replace the text-based questions for this scale.
While continuing to provide reliable data concerning the
Catholic identity of our schools, changes to both the
PCB Scale and the Victoria Scale will reduce the survey
completion time by approximately 50%, a move that will be
welcomed by our school communities and those who are
asked to complete the ECSI Survey.

ECSI Survey
In 2020, 141 Catholic primary and secondary schools across
Victoria participated in the ECSI Survey round: 11 schools
in the Diocese of Ballarat; 97 schools in the Archdiocese
of Melbourne; 13 schools in the Diocese of Sale; and 20
schools in the Diocese of Sandhurst.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a number of schools did
not obtain reportable data and will take the survey again in
2021 – the same year as their school effectiveness review.
Relevant staff in each of the dioceses will work to ensure that
schools with both the ECSI Survey and school effectiveness
review in 2021 are well-supported as they prepare for and
undertake the review.
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Child Safety Working Party

Membership
Mr Dennis Torpy, Manager, Student Wellbeing Unit, CEM
(Chair delegated to Dr Lina Di Paolo in early 2020 due to
Covid-19–related changes)
Dr Lina Di Paolo, Team Leader/Acting Manager,
Student Wellbeing Unit, CEM (Chair)
Ms Elina Raso, Senior Project Lead, Child Safety,
Student Wellbeing, CEM
Ms Sophie Banks, Team Leader, Safeguarding and
Standards, Employee Relations, CEM
Mr Tony Perkins,
Educational Consultant (Primary), CEO Ballarat
Mr Tim O’Farrell,
Safeguarding and Standards Manager, CEO Ballarat
Mr Oronzo Farina, Education Consultant (Secondary),
Child Protection Officer, CEO Sale
Ms Briony Schembri, Employment Relations Adviser,
CEO Sale (replacing Lauren Bourke)
Ms Shard Goodwin,
Employment Relations Adviser, CEO Sale
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director: Legal,
Industrial and Human Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Ms Frances Browne, Assistant to the Director:
Pastoral Wellbeing, CEO Sandhurst
Dr Katherine Levi, Director Professional Standards Unit,
Archdiocese of Melbourne

Context
The CECV is unreservedly committed to the ongoing care,
safety and wellbeing of children and young people so that they
are able to thrive and learn in inclusive school communities.
In accordance with this commitment, throughout 2020, the
Catholic sector continued to place the highest priority on
effective implementation of the mandated Victorian Child
Annual Report 2020

Safe Standards (CSS) in schools, with the CECV Board
maintaining a proactive role in promoting an integrated,
collaborative response across the dioceses.
The Child Safety Working Party, established by the CECV
Board, met virtually each quarter throughout 2020, focusing
its strategic efforts on supporting school leaders to drive
cultural change and to continuously improve their child safety
and wellbeing strategies and practices.
The CECV and the working party recognise that child safety
reform is not static but rather long-term, evolving work,
responsive to new evidence, contexts and learnings. In
2020, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic and the increased
experience of remote learning, the working party developed
and made available guidance and resources to support
schools to create safer online environments.
The working party also continued to work directly with the
other education sectors and the VRQA to ensure crosssectoral collaboration and integration of Catholic sector
perspectives in projects, research and resources.

Roles and activities
Key activities of the Child Safety Working Party included:
 maintaining a strong focus on child safety culture,
leadership and governance as a through line in CECV child
safety resources and through diocesan-level professional
learning initiatives and communication strategies
 in partnership with the VRQA, keeping abreast of
developments at state level, emerging from the Victorian
Government Review of the Victorian Child Safe Standards.
(A key recommendation in the Victorian Government’s
final review report, released in December 2019, relates to
amendment of the Victorian Child Safe Standards to align
with the National Principles for Child Safe Organisations)

 building school capacity, through local-level initiatives,
webinars and guidance material, to effectively:
» implement the cross-sectoral PROTECT protocol
Identifying and responding to all forms of abuse in
Victorian schools (August 2018 edition), including
during periods of remote learning in 2020
» address child safety and wellbeing matters in the remote
learning environment (for example, the Fact Sheet on
Child Safety, Reportable Conduct and Duty of Care in
Remote/online Learning Environment; eSafety Toolkit)
 regular updating of the ‘Child Safety’ webpage on
the CEVN website to support schools with deeper
implementation of the CSS and links to national
developments, emerging research, facilitator guides and
material for school-based professional learning
 in partnership with the CECV Review Body Committee,
monitoring the child safety compliance process within
the 2020 review cycle, including child safety training
for school reviewers and identifying emerging areas
of challenge for schools. (The sector’s school review
processes incorporate a rigorous on-site child safety
assessment, requiring leaders to demonstrate evidence of
their compliance with Ministerial Order No. 870)
 in partnership with the CECV Review Body Committee,
initiating a process to review the existing CECV Child
Safe Standards Compliance Tool and to recommend
improvements for 2021 and beyond in light of revised
Victorian Child Safe Standards, anticipated during 2021
 keeping informed and actively engaged with progress
of the Phase 2 Child Information Sharing Scheme – a
related reform with implications for existing child safety
activity across schools. (The working party kept abreast of
developments at state level: this included participation in
face-to-face and virtual leader training on implementation
of the scheme and accommodating amended rollout
plans – now shifted to early 2021 due to COVID-19–
related disruptions).
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Emergency Management Working Party

Membership

Roles and activities

Mrs Megan Ioannou, Director, Planning and Infrastructure,
CEM (Chair)
Mr Harry Allard, Executive Officer, Emergency Management
Officer, Infrastructure Services and Capital Delivery, CEM
Mr Fergus Chisholm, Manager, Infrastructure Services and
Capital Delivery, CEM
Ms Juliette Cox, Regional General Manager,
Western Region, CEM
Ms Marwin Austerberry, Regional General Manager,
Eastern Region, CEM
Ms Debra Egan, Regional General Manager,
Southern Region, CEM
Mr John Mills, Regional General Manager,
Northern Region, CEM
Mr Darren McDonnell, Building Infrastructure Officer,
Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Ltd. (DOSCEL)
Ms Marianne O’Rourke, School Leadership Consultant:
Primary, Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Ltd. (DOSCEL)
Mr Simon O’Brien, Planning,
Risk & Compliance Officer, CEO Ballarat
Mr Peter Kerwan, Manager: HR and ICON, CEO Ballarat
Mr Kevin Lawlor, Assistant to the Director: Legal, Industrial
& Human Resources, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Rob Papworth, CEO Property Manager/
Planning Officer, CEO Sandhurst
Mr Michael Stewart, Team Leader,
Occupational Health & Safety, CEM
Ms Nanette Sweeney, Administration Assistant,
Infrastructure Services and Capital Delivery, CEM
(Minutes Secretary)

Members of the Emergency Management Working Party
(EMWP) provide policy advice, guidance and regular
reports to the CECV Board on emergencies in schools and
associated matters.
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The EMWP met five times during 2020. All members had the
opportunity to share information and knowledge regarding
specific incidents and issues throughout the four dioceses.
Throughout 2020, the EMWP has continued to build strong
relationships with the Department of Education and Training
(DET) and their Emergency Management Division, and
Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) in the statewide
planning and implementation of emergency management.
The EMWP provides support, guidance and resources to
schools. Through the respective Diocesan Catholic Education
Offices and DOSCEL, schools receive assistance with
planning, responding, and recovering from emergencies.
Significant works in 2020 included:
 the four Catholic education offices receiving and issuing
162 warnings and alert notices to schools, of which a low
number required some ongoing support to minimise the
threat or disruption
 overseeing and effecting the delivery of 487 incident
warnings and alerts authorised by the DET to
Catholic schools
 overseeing and effecting the delivery of EMV warnings and
alerts to Catholic schools
 counselling and assisting schools in developing and
drafting their Emergency Management Plans (EMP)
 upgrading and continuing to review the ‘Emergency
Management’ webpage on the CECV website
 working with the DET’s Emergency Management Division
to identify schools to be placed on the Bushfire At-Risk
Register (BARR) and Grassfire At-Risk Register (GARR)

 communicating to schools on the BARR and GARR of
their need to modify their EMP to respond to their greater
risks of bushfires and grassfires and to appropriately
prepare their school and community
 providing information circulars about bushfire season,
bushfire preparedness, severe weather alerts, and air
quality warning advice and warnings
 managing the Student Activity Locator and sharing
information about activities in areas threatened by bushfire
or floods with emergency agencies
 developing, approving and publishing the CECV
Framework for Emergency Management Preparedness
and Compliance in Catholic Schools
 attending a total of six Incident Management Team
(IMT) meetings with the DET’s Security and Emergency
Management Division for imminent threats of bushfires
and predictions of poor air quality caused by the
2019/20 bushfires
 providing advice to schools to liaise with bus coordinators
given the potential closure of school bus routes on
Code Red days
 surveying schools in areas impacted by the 2019/20
bushfires to establish a sense of the need for support
services and government assistance
 providing resources and support to schools in response to
the 2019/20 bushfires, including information for students,
staff, and families
 submitting a summary response regarding the 2019/20
bushfires to the National Catholic Education Commission
(NCEC) to represent the Victorian Catholic education
sector at the Australian Government Department
of Education, Skills and Employment Best Practice
Responses to Emergencies workshop.
 counselling and assisting schools with queries related to
COVID-19.
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Salary and Conditions Board

Membership
Mr Paul Hoy AM KSG, External Consultant (Chairperson)
Mr Garry McClean, Chief Executive Officer, Mary MacKillop
Heritage Centre, Member of the Board of Directors,
Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Ltd (DOSCEL)
(Member – Employer Body)
Ms Mary Fitz-Gerald, Principal, Mater Christi College,
Belgrave (Member – Employee Body)
Mrs Sonia Hutchison, ER Adviser, Employee Relations,
CEM (Secretary)

Role

The key outcome in 2020 was the completion and
implementation of Determination 1/2020, which amended
the classification structure of salaries recommended for
secondary principals, contained in the Recommended
Conditions of Employment for Secondary Principals.

The S&CB continued extensive consultation in 2020 and
considered different approaches to revise the classification
structure and measures to address the issues raised by
stakeholders. In undertaking this work, the S&CB sought to
balance multiple stakeholder interests.

Determination 1/2020 refers more closely to the current
Commonwealth allocation of funding for secondary schools
and simplified the number of allowances. The main purpose
was to ensure that employers and principals have a consistent
and comparable method under which to guide decisions
surrounding base salary and allowances of principals.

The Determination 1/2020 was endorsed in September 2020
with application backdated to April 2020.

The role of the Salary and Conditions Board (S&CB) is to:
 review the salary and conditions of secondary principals
from time to time
 make recommendations on the salaries and conditions of
secondary principals in Victorian Catholic schools
 provide a rationale to the CECV Board for any
recommendations and in doing so, consult with, and
consider the views of, all relevant stakeholders
 submit recommendations to the CECV Board, which
will consider recommendations in light of the capacity
of schools to pay, the salaries of other staff in Victorian
Catholic schools and the salaries of comparable
employees in Victorian Government schools and interstate
Catholic schools.

Activities
The S&CB met on six occasions in 2020 as a board and also
conducted additional briefings and information sessions
with representatives from Catholic school employers and
the Principals’ Association of Victorian Catholic Secondary
Schools (PAVCSS).

Annual Report 2020
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Achievement Data

National Assessment Program
– Literacy and Numeracy results 2020

Victorian Certificate of Education
(VCE) results 2020

Vocational Education and Training and
Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning 2020

The National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy
(NAPLAN) is an Australia-wide testing program of literacy and
numeracy for students in Years 3, 5, 7 and 9.

VCE satisfactory completion rates: In 2020, 88 Victorian
Catholic schools (96.7%) had satisfactory completion rates of
at least 98%.

NAPLAN provides data for calculating the proportion of
students achieving results at or above the national minimum
standard in each of five domains (grammar and punctuation,
numeracy, reading, spelling and writing).

VCE median study scores: In 2020, 69 Victorian Catholic
schools (75.8%) had a median study score within the state
average range of 28–32. Eleven schools (12.1%) had a
median study score greater than 32.

Participation: There continues to be evidence of high
student participation in Vocational Education and
Training (VET) and the Victorian Certificate of Applied
Learning (VCAL).

Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, no NAPLAN
tests took place in Australia in 2020. The tests will be
resumed in 2021.

VCE study scores of 40 or above: A study score of 40
or above represents exceptional performance (among the
top 8% in the state). In 2020, 7.4% of students in Victorian
Catholic schools achieved study scores of 40 or above
(see Figure 1).

In 2019 the performance of students in Victorian Catholic
schools included:
 Year 3 students – for each domain, 97.4% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
99.6% in writing
 Year 5 students – for each domain 95.5% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
98.8% in numeracy
 Year 7 students – for each domain 95.8% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
98.3% in numeracy
 Year 9 students – for each domain 90.2% achieved
results at or above the national benchmark, including
99.3% in numeracy.

Annual Report 2020

Figure 1: Percentage of Catholic students
achieving study scores of 40 and over

Figure 2 shows that over the period 2019–2020 the average
number of VET certificates offered in Catholic schools
decreased slightly from 20.8 to 20.5. Over the same period,
the average number of VET enrolments per school fell very
slightly from 133.5 to 133.4.

Figure 2: Average number of VET certificates
offered per school, Catholic schools Victoria, 2016–2020
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Figure 3 shows that over the period 2019–2020 the
number of Victorian Catholic schools offering the VCAL
has decreased from 86 to 83. Between 2019 and 2020 the
average number of students enrolled in the VCAL per school
rose from 42.7 to 45.7.

Figure 3: Number of schools offering the VCAL,
Catholic schools, Victoria 2016–2020
86
84

Of the students eligible to complete the VCAL in 2020, 84.3%
of Catholic school students satisfactorily completed more
than half of their units.
Figure 5 shows that 25 Catholic schools (30.1% of those
offering the VCAL) had all of their eligible students complete
the VCAL. There were 78 (94.0%) schools had at least threequarters of their eligible students complete the VCAL.

Figure 5: Number of schools grouped
according to percentage of 2020 VCAL completions
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79

25
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Secondary students in Catholic schools across Victoria had
high representation in the study of VCE Religious Education
(RE) units in 2020. Among all Victorian school students
enrolled in each of the four VCE units of Religion and Society,
Catholic school students ranged between 76.3% and 93.0%
of enrolments. In VCE Texts and Traditions, the proportion
ranged from 60.7% to 91.9%.
For each of these units the average satisfactory completion
rate of Victorian Catholic school students was between
97.6% and 99.2%.

32

81

Participation in VCE Religious Education

Student destinations post-Year 12, 2019
No student destination data is yet available for 2019 as the
survey was delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Data for the years 2014 to 2018 is shown in Table 1 below.

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Achievement: Schools’ average satisfactory completion rate
of VET units has decreased slightly from 90.1% to 83.6%
between 2019 and 2020, as shown in Figure 4.

Figure 4: Average completion rates of VET units,
Catholic schools, Victoria, 2016–2020
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Table 1: Destinations of students leaving Victorian schools after Year 12 (percentages) 2014 to 2018
Destination
Bachelor degree
TAFE/VET
Apprenticeship/traineeship
Employed
Looking for work
Deferred
Other

Percentage from Catholic Schools
2014
59.2
13.8
7.9
7.6
2.1
9.1
0.3

2015
56.7
12.5
8.9
8.2
1.8
11.5
0.3

2016
61.3
11.5
7.6
8.2
1.3
10.0
0.3

2017
60.5
10.3
8.9
8.9
1.6
9.7
0.2

2018
58.1
11.9
8.7
9.1
1.3
10.4
0.3

Percentage from all Victorian schools
2014
53.6
16.2
7.4
9.5
3.6
9.1
0.5

2015
50.2
15.2
9.0
10.6
3.8
10.6
0.6

2016
54.2
12.7
8.1
11.0
3.3
10.3
0.5

2017
55.8
11.7
7.9
11.0
3.0
10.0
0.4

2018
54.4
12.6
8.2
11.5
3.2
9.7
0.4
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Student Awards

2020 Diocese of Ballarat Scholarship

Victorian Premier’s VCE Awards

Each year the Ballarat Diocesan Finance Council awards a scholarship to support a student
from each secondary college in the diocese moving into Years 11 or 12. Successful recipients
of the award will have demonstrated leadership potential and student advocacy, community
involvement characterised by actions for justice, and a consistent academic application
reflective of a commitment to study.

Students from across the state are recognised each year
for their outstanding achievements in their VCE. The
Top All-Round VCE High Achievement Award is given to
students who achieved study scores of 46 or higher in at
least five VCE studies. The recipients were:

We congratulate these eleven worthy recipients of the 2020 scholarship:

 Isabelle Brugliera, Genazzano FCJ College, Kew
 Sam Warner, Mazenod College, Mulgrave
 Mubasshir Murshed, Lavalla Catholic College, Traralgon.
Study Awards were also presented to a number of
Catholic school students who achieved study scores of
46 or higher in individual subjects.

Mubasshir Murshed

Father James Wall Bursary Leadership Achievement Award
Each year, students across Australia are selected to receive the Father James Wall Bursary
Leadership Achievement Award. The recipients each receive $4,000 from the Catholic
Development Fund to assist with school fees and other expenses incurred while undertaking
studies in Years 11 and 12. In 2020, the recipients were:






Milly Cortese, St Peter’s College, Cranbourne
Laura Galati, Catholic Ladies’ College, Eltham
Mia Jones, Our Lady of the Sacred Heart College, Bentleigh
Augustine Morris, Catholic Regional College, St Albans
Francesca Perri, Academy of Mary Immaculate, Fitzroy.

Annual Report 2020

 Noah Wineberg,
Marian College, Ararat
 Nicka Donasco, St Brigid’s
College, Horsham
 Isaac Burns, St Joseph’s
College, Mildura
 Ruby Scott, St Mary
MacKillop College,
Swan Hill

 Kate Gowans, Loreto
College, Ballarat
 Samuel Farrington,
St Patrick’s College, Ballarat
 Sinead Sugars, Damascus
College, Mount Clear
 Johanna Deane,
Mercy Regional College,
Camperdown

 Hugh Daffy,
Trinity College, Colac
 Nicholas O’Brien,
Monivae College,
Hamilton
 Louise Tamer, Emmanuel
College, Warrnambool.

Lions Club Youth of the Year public
speaking competition
Louise Tamer from Emmanuel College, Warrnambool,
is an all-round high achieving student. She consistently
achieves excellent academic results, participates in
school sporting events, regularly helps at school and
parish masses, is a year level leader, and excels in public
speaking. In 2020, Louise won the Lions Club Youth of
the Year public speaking competition regional finals with
her piece on ‘Random Acts of Kindness’. Louise also won
the Rostrum Voice of Youth national final after taking out
the state final in 2019.
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Student Awards

Tuckwell Scholarship

Perfect score in VET Music Performance

Jacob Gome, a Year 12 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was inducted as dux of the college (with
an ATAR score of 99.8) at the academic awards assembly
and is now a Tuckwell Scholar. This prestigious scholarship
from the Australian National University (ANU) is awarded to
only 25 students from around Australia and covers tuition
fees, accommodation, wellbeing costs and mentoring,
and also provides an income. As well as being dux, Jacob
completed first year university mathematics and achieved
First Class Honours. Jacob will be studying a Bachelor
of Philosophy (Honours) – Science at ANU.

Grace Moloney, an external student of Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, VET Music Performance, achieved Victoria’s
only perfect study score of 50 in this subject and was
invited to audition for the prestigious Top Class concerts
at the Melbourne Recital Centre, as was fellow student
Caitlin Garner.

MEXT Scholarship
Harrison Carroll-Beard, a Year 12 student at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, was the
third-highest achieving VCE student at the college, achieving an ATAR score of 99.3. Harrison
was chosen, after an extensive application period that included exams and interviews,
as Australia’s candidate for the World Japanese Government Monbukagakusho-MEXT
Scholarship Networks. This scholarship covers all undergraduate tuition fees at a prestigious
university in Japan (studying Pharmacy and Japanese), return airfares and a generous
living allowance.

Australian Science Olympiad
Jacob Gome, a Year 12 student at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, achieved a silver medal
in the Australian Science Olympiad in Canberra, placing fifth in Australia and narrowly missing
out in a place in the Australian team of four. Jacob was subsequently selected to join the staff
of the 2021 Olympiad and to mentor participating students.

South West Emerging Leaders Program

Grace, who attends Mercy Regional College, Camperdown,
joins an ever-growing list of Emmanuel VET Music Alumni,
many of whom are making their living as performing and
recording artists.

Creative Leaders Program
Minami Deguchi, a Year 10 student at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, was selected for the
Regional Arts Victoria Creative Leaders Program. Designed to inspire, inform and develop the
creative aspirations of school-aged artists in the south-west, the program matches students
with an industry mentor and supports them to develop skills and knowledge to help them take
the next steps in their creative careers. Minami is a musician who is passionate about forging
a career in music, including performing, managing and writing his own material.

Queen’s Guide Award
Anastasia Rea, a Year 12 student at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, received her
Queen’s Guide Award – the highest award in Girl Guides and an honour so rare that it has
not been bestowed in Warrnambool for 20 years. The accolade requires community service,
organisation skills, and a long-term commitment to the Guides with up to four hours of work
per week. Anastasia also completed a Certificate II in Agriculture and coached netball, which
contributed to the award. Anastasia was presented with a certificate, signed by the Queen,
at Melbourne’s Government House.

Five students from Emmanuel College, Warrnambool – Ben Pennington, Oliver Hammond,
Wil Woolstencroft, Kayne Brereton and Le Lou Berger – were chosen to participate in the
South West Emerging Leaders Program, which provides a series of after-school workshops
designed to build leadership skills, and matches each young leader with an industry mentor.
Annual Report 2020

Page 27

1. Company Members & Directors

2. Chair’s Report

3. Committee Reports

4. School Achievement

5. Awards

6. Financial Statements

7. Appendices

8. Abbreviations

Student Awards

Wheelchair basketball state team
Jaylen Brown, a Year 9 student at Emmanuel College,
Warrnambool, was selected to play for Victoria in wheelchair
basketball in Canberra – the youngest member of the
team. He has also represented Australia in a four-member
international competition and is edging closer to his dream
of representing Australia in the Paralympics.

World champion aerialist
Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, Year 8 student, Chloe Mutton, entered the worldwide, all
ages creative visual aerials competition Once Upon a Lyra, submitting via video in both the
groups and doubles sections. Chloe’s group, the Flying Flamingos, won the competition,
while her duo placed third. Chloe’s win makes her an Australian champion.

Junior Warrnibald portraiture prize
Rose Harvey of Year 9 at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, won the Junior Warrnibald portrait
prize. The Warrnibald is a non-acquisitive open-entry portraiture exhibition and art prize jointly
run by WDEA Works and the Warrnambool Art Gallery. Rose’s exquisite oil painting was a portrait
of her former kindergarten teacher and it received high praise from the judges and the public.

Athletics state champion
Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, Year 8 student,
Grace Kelly, won back-to-back gold medals in the
100 m/200 m Country Victorian Championships, and the
100 m/200 m Victorian state titles. Grace’s performance
had her ranked number one in Australia for the under-15
age group. Grace was selected to represent Victoria at the
National Championships, which was later cancelled due to
the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Kwong Lee Dow Scholar
Jace Nepean, Year 10 student at Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, was accepted into the
University of Melbourne Kwong Lee Dow Scholars program, which offers a guaranteed place
at the university and a relocation allowance dependant on achieving an ATAR above 95. Jace
is interested in pursuing studies in science, engineering or physics.

Highest VCE ATAR
Loreto College, Ballarat, student Sarah Harrington was
one of only six girls in the state (out of 38 students) to
achieve the highest possible VCE ATAR of 99.95. These
exemplary results are the outcome of Sarah’s outstanding
commitment to her studies. She is also to be commended
for her contribution to the Loreto College community over
the past six years as an active participant in all aspects of
school life.

DAV public speaking competition
Loreto College, Ballarat, Year 12 student Finnley Greet won
the Debater’s Association of Victoria (DAV) Public Speaking
Competition in a year when regular team showdowns were
put on hold and she could speak to whatever issue she
was most passionate about. Finnley chose to give voice to
understanding and accepting the transgender community.

Gardiner Dairy Foundation Scholarship
Toby Fleming, Mercy Regional College, Camperdown,
Captain and Year 12 student, was one of seven successful
recipients of the Gardiner Dairy Foundation Scholarship
for students commencing full time study in 2021 in a field
which will benefit dairy communities. Toby will be studying
a Bachelor of Agriculture with a major in technology at the
University of New England in Armidale, New South Wales.
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Science Talent Search

Youth Off the Streets Scholarship

St Joseph’s College, Mildura, Year 10 student Caterina De
Maria received a $250 bursary, sponsored by Engineers
Australia, for her experimental research project in the Science
Teachers’ Association of Victoria Science Talent Search. Only
11 such bursaries were awarded across the state this year.
Caterina’s project was an investigation into the factors that
affect buoyancy in water.

Laura Bentley, Year 12 student at Mercy Regional College,
Camperdown, was one of the 20 students across the
nation to receive a scholarship from the Youth Off the
Streets organisation. The scholarship is granted to assist
the recipients to pursue further education and training.

Corangamite Shire Council’s Youth Mayor
and Deputy Youth Mayor
Mercy Regional College, Camperdown, Year 12 students
Tess Lourey and Jordy Gray, were elected Corangamite Shire
Council’s Youth Mayor and Deputy Youth Mayor in 2020. The
Youth Council meets monthly to action ideas and investigate
issues of importance to Corangamite Youth.

Australian Grappling Championship

Jordy Gray

Tess Lourey

Creative Leaders Program
Mercy Regional College, Camperdown, students
Destiny Bambridge (Year 11), Grace Moloney (Year 12),
Caitlin Martin (Year 12) and Rose Deppeler (Year 12) were
selected to participate in the Creative Leaders Program,
2021. Designed to inspire, inform and develop the creative
aspirations of school-aged artists in the south west, the
program will match them with an industry mentor and
develop skills and knowledge to help them take the next
steps in their creative careers.
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St Joseph’s College, Mildura, students Bodey Burnham
and Kate Moonpen Euvrard competed in South Australia
for the Australian Grappling Championship for Brazilian
jiujitsu. Both students won a gold medal in the Gi and
No Gi divisions. Bodey also received a bronze medal at the
Sydney Open, competing in the under-17s competition.

Bodey Burnham and
Kate Moonpen Euvrard

High jump state champion
Grace
Moloney

Rose
Deppeler

Caitlin
Martin

Destiny
Bambridge

St Joseph’s College, Mildura, Year 10 student Sebastian
Pollifrone won the under-17s men’s South Australian High
Jump State Champion. Sebastian won by 18 cm, clearing
190 cm. Sebastian then moved on to compete in the
Australian Junior Championships in Sydney.

National equestrian representative
St Mary MacKillop College, Swan Hill, Year 12 student
Alannah Burns was selected to represent Australia at
the Regency Horse Floats Hunter and Show Horse
Championships in Tamworth and Canberra in November
2020. Alannah will also represent Australia in the New
Zealand Tour in 2021 as part of the Australian National Team.
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VicSRC student representative
St Mary MacKillop College, Swan Hill, Year 11 student
Grace Scott was elected as a student representative of the
Victorian Student Representative Council Ltd (VicSRC). The
VicSRC was created by students to be a voice for students
at the highest levels of decision-making in Victorian
education. It is led by a team of 15 secondary school-aged
students (Student Executive Advisory Committee) that make
decisions collaboratively with a group of six adults (VicSRC
Board of Trustees) about how the VicSRC operates, what
programs it offers and how it hears from students about
what changes need to be made in education.

Creative Arts Exhibition People’s Choice Award winners
Held as a digital experience, the 2020 Creative Arts Exhibition consisted of over 650 artworks
from 147 schools in the Archdiocese of Melbourne. Following the announcement of the
awards, visitors to the digital experience were invited to vote for their favourite artwork by
primary and secondary students. Congratulations to the People’s Choice Award winners
Nicole Kihumba from Mother of God School, Ardeer, for her work Odd One Out and Katia
Pietrolungo from Ave Maria College, Aberfeldie, for her work Women’s Rights Campaign.

Principal’s award for inspiring leadership
Year 12 student and Mantua house captain at Whitefriars College, Donvale, Ben Bugeja
received the principal’s award for his inspiring leadership. Principal Mark Murphy praised Ben
for his leadership which will be remembered for years to come. Ben has a condition called
Duchenne muscular dystrophy, a severe type of muscular dystrophy that primarily affects
boys. In 2020, he led his house and inspired the entire college.

32nd International Olympiad in Informatics
Tunan Shi from St Kevin’s College, Toorak, was awarded a silver medal in the 32nd
International Olympiad in Informatics (IOI). Tunan was the highest placed Australian student
in the IOI, coming 69th out of 343 contestants. Four Australian students in total competed
against 86 countries in IOI 2020, making this the second consecutive year that all Australian
students who competed earned a medal.
Annual Report 2020

Junior Mayor of Greater Dandenong
St Anthony’s School, Noble Park, celebrated one of its school captains, Year 6 student Sanjay
Karthesan, for being elected as the new Junior Mayor of the City of Greater Dandenong
for 2020.

Wool4School competition
Students Vivian Ly and Miriam Trezise from St Monica’s College, Epping, and Bridgette
Veneris from Kilbreda College, Mentone, were recognised in the national Wool4School
competition. In 2020, Wool4School challenged students to design a garment or outfit inspired
by flora and fauna, while incorporating fibres that are gentle on the earth.

Jacaranda Writing Competition
Julie from Nazareth College, Noble Park North, was one of the winners of the 2020 Jacaranda
Writing Competition. The competition was open to all current teachers and students in Years
7–12 of Australian secondary schools. Julie entered the competition as an extension project in
the Year 8 Laurel, English Creative Writing Unit and was awarded a $200 cash prize. Her story
will be published in next year’s Year 7 Jacaranda textbook.

The Catholic Bishop of Sale Religious Education Awards
This award recognises the efforts of students achieving study scores of 40+ in their VCE
religious studies. In 2020, the recipients were Roni Corby from Nagle College, Bairnsdale, and
Rachel Willig from Marist-Sion College, Warragul.

Bould-Young 2020 Memorial Award
Kayla Jarenczuk, a Year 10 student at St Francis Xavier College, Beaconsfield, was one of two
recipients to receive the Bould-Young 2020 Memorial Award for residents of Cardinia Shire.
The accolade recognises the sacrifices and deeds of residents in Pakenham to protect the
freedom of our nation.

2020 Holt Community Spirit and Leadership Awards
On Monday 14 December, Anthony Byrne MP conducted the 2020 Holt Community Spirit
and Leadership Awards via Zoom. The awards acknowledge students who actively contribute
to their school and their wider community. In 2020, the recipients were Emily Andrew
from St Peter’s College, Cranbourne campus, and Corey Coupar from St Peter’s College,
Clyde North campus.
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Traralgon Tennis Invitational

Victorian ANZAC Day Award

Teen ace, Chelsea Elliott from Lavalla Catholic College, Traralgon, took the ladies crown at
the Traralgon Serviced Apartments Tennis Invitational in July 2020. The 14-year-old won five
consecutive games with an end score of 7-5.

Students from St Patrick’s School, Wangaratta, were the
Victorian winners of the 2020 State ANZAC Day award.
This is a national competition sponsored by the Australian
Government Department of Veterans’ Affairs. The brief was to
make a presentation that reflected the impact that Australia’s
involvement in World War Two had on local communities. The
win saw the school receive a letter of congratulations from
The Hon. Darren Chester MP (Veterans Affairs and Military
Personnel) as well as a cheque for $3,000.

Victorian Interschool Equestrian Championships
Year 10 to 12 students from across Victoria competed at the 2020 Victorian Interschool
Equestrian Championships. Grace Perkins from Lavalla Catholic College, Traralgon, took out
the prize for the 110 cm show jumping event.

State Champion & World Runner Up –
Barefoot Skiing Champion

Finalist – Marg Angel Junior Sportsperson
of the Year award, Victorian Disability Sport
and Recreation Awards

St Joseph’s College, Echuca, student Fletcher Ball won the
Victorian state title in the Barefoot Skiing Championships
with a perfect score of 1000. He went on to represent
Australia in the world titles and was named the Runner-up
World Champion, after narrowly missing out on the win.

Tori English from Catholic College Wodonga was
nominated for the Marg Angel Junior Sportsperson of
the Year at the Victorian Disability Sport and Recreation
Awards. In 2020, Tori was also crowned the ‘Girls 12 Year’
multi-class champion. That result sent her to the regional
stage, where she was again successful, then heading onto
the School Sports Victoria state title and earning the right
to compete at nationals in Wollongong, where she again
finished with gold.

National Youth Science Forum
Catherine McAuley College, Bendigo, students Deanna
Duane and Toby Costigan were selected to take part in the
National Youth Science Forum (NYSF) Year 12 Program
for 2021. The NYSF Year 12 Program is a 10-day program
designed to give students a broader understanding of
the diverse study and career options available in science,
technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) and to
encourage further pursuit of the subjects.
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Back Row: Ada Overberg,
Hayley Nesbitt, Kayley Butera,
Isabel McClen, Summer Smith
Front Row: Annette Beitzel,
Pippa Warrender, Oliver Nicoll,
Abbey Park, Karen Bray

Deanna Duane
and Toby Costigan
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Diocese of Ballarat Catholic Education Limited (DOBCEL)
Service Awards

DOBCEL Diocesan Leadership Awards –
Partnership Award

Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, teachers Karen Hetherington and Colleen Pope were
recognised for 30 years of service to Catholic education, while maintenance staff member
Gerard Noonan was recognised for 50 years of service to the college.

The DOBCEL Partnership Award recognises facilitation and
commitment to partnership within and across school, parish,
diocese and the local community to enhance student learning.

Educational partnership

Jill Wheatland from Loreto College, Ballarat received the
award in 2020 for her leadership of the VCAL program where
students are offered a genuine, hands-on applied learning
pathway, which provides the opportunity to develop real
work skills and practical experience.

Through a partnership between Emmanuel College, Warrnambool, and the University of
South Australia’s Mount Gambier campus, a group of seven Emmanuel staff members
graduated with a Master of Educational Leadership in 2020. The college congratulated
Simone Rolfe, Natasha Cummings, Megan Davies, Jason Dart, Sean Fitzgibbon, Ben
Woonton and Shane Smith at the Academic Awards Assembly.

DOBCEL Diocesan Leadership Awards –
Catholic Leadership Award
The DOBCEL Catholic Leadership Award is bestowed
upon a worthy recipient for leadership that provides
active witness to God’s presence in the education, parish
and/or diocesan community and that enhances the
education community’s Catholic identity.
Mandy Carroll received this award for her leadership of
Faith and Mission at Loreto College, Ballarat, where,
through authentic faith leadership, she has promoted a
Catholic Christian perspective within the Loreto tradition.

DOBCEL Diocesan Leadership Awards –
Fullness of Life Award
Melanie Saleta, Head of Learning Diversity at St Joseph’s
College, Mildura, was presented with the DOBCEL
Fullness of Life Award. Melanie was nominated in
recognition of her work in developing a sensory room
at the college as a holistic approach to supporting
vulnerable students from across all year levels.

Left to right:
Tom Sexton, Executive Director of
Catholic Education Ballarat. Melanie
Saleta, Head of Learning Diversity,
St Joseph’s College, Mildura. Tracey
O’Neill, DOBCEL Board Chair and
Company Director. Marg Blythman,
Principal, St Joseph’s College, Mildura

Australia Day honour
Former Catholic school principal Julie Ryan was appointed Member of the Order of Australia
for service to secondary education in the 2020 Australia Day Honours. Ms Ryan was principal
of Our Lady of Mercy College, Heidelberg, from 2005 to 2017, and principal of St Columba’s
College, Essendon, from 2000 to 2004.

The Knowledge Review inspiring leaders
Suzanne Farley, Deputy Principal – Learning and Teaching, at Caroline Chisholm Catholic
College, Braybrook, was recognised by The Knowledge Review as one of the 10 most
inspiring educational leaders in Australia. With more than 20 years of experience, Suzanne
has helped improve the school’s academic results in numerous ways. Most notably,
she implemented the Reading Program in collaboration with the University of Melbourne,
which boosted the school’s NAPLAN results.
Annual Report 2020
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Australian Council for Health, Physical Education and Recreation
(ACHPER) Victoria 2020 Innovative Program (Primary) Award
Principal of St Kieran’s School in Moe, Mr Peter McKenna, won the ACHPER Award for
his Running with Numbers Program, which helps students in Prep and Grade 1 learn
mathematical skills through physical activities. Some of the tasks include using jumps that
represent numbers to learn addition and another involves solving quick maths problems with
velcro shapes and sprints.

Daniel Ahern Bursary
The pioneering spirit of Daniel Ahern, a teacher from the 1800s, is recognised through this
bursary, which provides financial support to non-teaching staff who wish to pursue a career as
a teacher. In 2020, the recipients were Ms Brianna Scrivener from St Agatha’s Primary School,
Cranbourne, and Ms Miranda Ryan, Trinity Catholic Primary School, Narre Warren South.

Catholic Education Service Awards
The Catholic Education Service Awards acknowledge and pay tribute to staff within the
Diocese of Sale, who have dedicated themselves to the Catholic Education sector in
Australia for 25 years or more. In 2020, the recipients were:
 Mr Dean Hendrikse,
Marist-Sion College,
Warragul
 Ms Debra Robson,
Marist-Sion College,
Warragul
 Dr Angela Kelly,
St Michael’s Primary
School, Berwick

Annual Report 2020

 Mrs Helen Davine,
Marist-Sion College,
Warragul
 Mrs Judith Clarisse,
St Michael’s Primary
School, Berwick
 Ms Judy Whiteside,
Marist-Sion College,
Warragul.

Spirit of Catholic Education Awards
The Spirit of Catholic Education Awards recognise
individuals in Catholic schools who have achieved
excellence in inspiring faith and learning within their school
community. In 2020, the recipients were:

Peter
Collingwood

Inspiring faith
 Mr Michael Hall, Marist-Sion College, Warragul
Inspiring learning
 Mr Julian Blackford, Immaculate Heart of Mary School,
Newborough
 Mr Peter Collingwood, St Francis Xavier College,
Berwick campus.

Michael Hall

Julian
Blackford

Sion Scholarship 2020
Recipients of the Sion Scholarship are invited to attend the Biblical Program at the Ecce
Homo Convent in Jerusalem. The program lasts for one month and allows teachers to live and
breathe their Catholic faith in the heart of Jerusalem while furthering their religious studies.
In 2020, the recipients were Annette Tanner from St Patrick’s School, Pakenham, and Jake
Watson from St Thomas’ School, Sale.

Marist-Sion College award
winners L-R Debra Robson,
Dean Hendrikse, Michael Hall,
Helen Davine and
Judy Whiteside
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School Awards

Schools that Excel: Winners in the west

The Educator’s Innovative Schools

Mount Saint Joseph Girl’s College, Altona, was recognised in Schools that Excel as winners in
the west. Schools that Excel brings together detailed VCE results from Victorian government,
independent and Catholic schools. The college’s percentage of study scores above 40 rose
from 7 per cent in 2010 to 10.3 in 2019. The median study score also made steady progress
from 30 to 31.

Genazzano FCJ College, Kew, was recognised for its innovative learning programs as part of
The Educator’s Innovative Schools list for 2020.

Walk to School
St Peter’s School, Bentleigh East, won the Walk to School program for the south-eastern
region. Around 186,600 students from 942 Victorian primary schools walked, rode or
scooted to school during Walk to School month in October 2020. This is the highest number
of participants in the initiative’s 14-year history and equates to an estimated one in three
Victorian primary school students taking part in the program.

ResourceSmart Schools Awards
St Columba’s School, Elwood, Our Lady Star of the Sea School, Ocean Grove, and
MacKillop Catholic Regional College, Werribee, were winners of the ResourceSmart
Schools Awards for 2020.
The awards were announced on World Environment Day, in a virtual ceremony hosted by
broadcaster Sammy J. The theme for 2020, ‘People and the Planet’, celebrated how we use
our humanity – our knowledge, care and passion – to look after the environment, and how this
contributes to our wellbeing in return.

Mathematical Association of Victoria Maths Talent Quest
Students at Lumen Christi School, Point Cook, showed a strong commitment to mathematics
and their success is growing. The school’s work in mathematics investigations was rewarded
and acknowledged through excellent results at the 2020 Mathematical Association of Victoria
Maths Talent Quest’s state and national award ceremony.

The college was recognised for its iLEARN Profiler and Emergence Program. The Profiler
is a strength-based tool, which invites a student view of strengths, challenges, classroom
experience, mindset, approach to learning, metacognition, motivation and more. The tool was
developed and piloted in 2020, and received positive feedback from both staff and students.

Learning Environments Australasia Awards
St Dominic’s School, Broadmeadows, was recognised in the 2020 Learning Environments
Australasia Awards. The commendation of the STEAM Centre was not only a tribute to the
amazing design, but also the importance placed on providing spaces for students to be the
best learners they can be.

James D MacConnell Award 2020 –
International Architecture Award
The facilities of Marist College Bendigo, Maiden Gully,
were recognised with Y2 Architecture winning the
prestigious James D MacConnell Award. This is only the
third time an Australian project has won this global award
which recognises the outstanding planning processes
that go into creating educational facilities around the
world. Marist College was opened in 2015 and the
partnership with Y2 Architecture has seen multiple
awards for the school over the past five years.

Marist College, Bendigo

Marist College, Bendigo

Marist College, Bendigo
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Financial report for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020

Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited
ACN 119 459 853
The directors of the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited (‘CECV Ltd’ or
‘the company’) submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2020. In order to comply with the reporting requirements of the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) Act 2012 (Cth), the directors’
report as follows:
The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end
of the financial year
Name

Particulars

Most Rev.
Terence Curtin

Auxiliary Bishop, Archdiocese of Melbourne

Dr Helga Neidhart RSC
TPTC, BA, MEd (Hons), PhD,
BTheol, FACE, FACEL

Ms Audrey Brown

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat

BA, DipEd, MEd,
GradCertRE GradDipArts
(Theol), GradCertEdLaw,
MEdSLead, MProfStTheol,
FACEL, MAICD

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited

(resigned 3 July 2020)

Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee
(Targeted Programs)
Member of the CECV Enhancing Catholic Schools Identity Project
Steering Committee
Member of the CECV Employment Relations Committee
Member of the National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC)
Faith Formation and Religious Education Committee

STD DD STL BEd VG EV
(Chair)

Mr Tim O’Leary

Senior Lecturer, School of Educational Leadership,
Australian Catholic University (retired)

BA (Honours), GradDipPhil

Executive Director, Stewardship, Catholic Archdiocese
of Melbourne

(appointed 11 February 2020)

Member of the Diocesan Finance Council
Deputy Chair of the Catholic Development Fund Board
Member of the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Ltd
Trustee of the Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation

Ms Maria Kirkwood

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Sale

BEd, GradDipArts, CertT

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)
Chair of the CECV Employment Relations Committee
Member of the CECV Enhancing Catholic Schools Identity Project
Steering Committee
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Deputy Chair of the Victorian Institute of Teaching Council
Rev. Justin Driscoll

Administrator of St Patrick’s Cathedral Parish Ballarat

BTheol, MM

Mr Paul Desmond

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Sandhurst

B. Ed. GradDipRE, GradDip
Student Guidance & Welfare

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Review Body Committee
Member of the Victorian Institute of Teaching Council

Mr Tom Sexton

Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat

DipEd, MBA, MAICD,
GradDip Computing
in Education, Cert
Achievement in Surviving
Disruptive Technologies

Director of Catholic Capital Grants (Victoria) Limited

(appointed 17 August 2020)

Member of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Targeted Programs)
Member of the CECV ICON Working Group
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Mr John Meneely

Deputy Director of Catholic Education Ballarat,

Principal activities

DipT, BA, GradDipArts
(Theol), MA (Theol), MAICD

Interim Director of Catholic Education Ballarat (6 July 2020 to
17 August 2020), Co-Company Secretary Diocese of Ballarat
Catholic Education Ltd (DOBCEL)

The objectives of the company are:

CECV ECSI Steering Committees, Diocesan Heads of RE

a) to, for and on behalf of Catholic schools, act as the recipient of grants provided to or in
respect of Catholic schools;
b) to allocate, distribute, expend or appropriate grants to Catholic schools, always in
accordance with conditions (if any) imposed by a government agency;
c) to, in cooperation with the director of catholic education in each diocese, facilitate and
support the compliance with all relevant conditions and requirements in respect of grants
imposed by a government agency; and
d) to act for each bishop in specified matters concerning the Catholic schools in his diocese,
or in such other matters as the bishops may in cooperation require.

(appointed as Interim
Director: 6 July 2020
to 17 August 2020)

Mr Jim Miles

Executive Director of Melbourne Archdiocese Catholic Schools Ltd

BA,
BComm,GradDipEconomics,
MComm

Chair of the CECV ICON Working Group
Board Member of the Catholic Development Fund
Director of Catholic Capital Grants Ltd
Chair of the CECV Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)
Commissioner of the National Catholic Education Commission
Chair of the Catholic Education Long Service Leave Scheme
(Victoria)
Member of the Victorian Government School Policy and Funding
Advisory Council

Company Secretary
Ms Anna Rados
BA, GradDipCrim, GradCert
Management of Not-forprofit Organisations

Company Secretary of the Catholic Education Commission
of Victoria Limited
General Manager, Integrity and Assurance, Melbourne
Archdiocese Catholic Schools Ltd
Member of the CECV Review Body Committee

The directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report, unless
otherwise indicated.

In accordance with the beliefs, traditions and practices of the Roman Catholic Church,
and Church laws:

Review of operations
The company’s net surplus for the year ended 31 December 2020 is $3,247,164
(2019 deficit: $3,345,468).

Changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company.

Future developments
The CECV is committed to a school funding model that supports choice and access for all
Australians through the widespread provision of non-government schools that have a range of
fee levels and operating models.
Catholic education will continue to advocate for funding arrangements that enables this goal
and ensures parental choice in education and the continued affordability and accessibility of a
high-quality education founded on the Catholic faith.
The continuing provision of this choice to all families across the socioeconomic spectrum is
an ongoing strength of our nation’s education landscape.
The Australian Government’s legislated new 10-year funding model, the Gonski 2.0 proposals,
and amendments and the implementation of the Direct Measure of Income (DMI) score ensure
that the CECV will remain viable and able to continue supporting Catholic schools in Victoria
until 2029.
Under the funding model, the Australian Government will pay 80% of its Schooling Resource
Standard (SRS), as determined by the DMI score, to Catholic schools by 2023. Individual
schools that are funded above the SRS will transition to the SRS by 2029. An estimated $1
billion in additional funding is expected for the CECV system between 2020 and 2029 as
a result of the new measure of capacity to contribute and Catholic systemic schools being
placed on the same transition line as other non-government schools.
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The Australian Government’s Choice and Affordability Fund (CAF), which was established to
provide transition support to address funding challenges faced by non-government schools is
expected to deliver an additional $180 million to the CECV over the 2020 to 2029 period.
Victorian Government recurrent funding arrangements were signed with the Victorian
Government for the four-year period ending 2021. State legislation links funding to the CECV
under these agreements to the funding level of government schools. This provides certainty
on state funding to the CECV until the end of 2021. The CECV will enter into negotiations with
the Victorian Government in 2021 for the 2022 year and beyond.

Dividends
The company does not pay dividends.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During or since the end of the financial year, the company has not indemnified or made a
relevant agreement to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body
corporate against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor. In addition, the company
has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability
incurred by an officer or auditor.

7. Appendices

8. Abbreviations

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of
committees of directors) held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended
by each director (while they were a director or committee member). During the financial year,
seven board meetings and four meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee were held.
Board of Directors
Directors

While the CECV itself satisfies these requirements, the CECV is unable to distribute state
funding to unincorporated entities by the end of 2021. To comply with this requirement,
incorporated Catholic education companies were established in the Archdiocese of
Melbourne, Diocese of Ballarat and Diocese of Sandhurst to own and operate schools from
1 January 2021. The already established Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Limited satisfied
the Victorian Government incorporation requirements prior to 1 January 2021.

The company’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under
the laws of the Commonwealth or of any state or territory. However, the directors believe
that the company has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental
requirements and it is not aware of any breach of these environmental requirements.

6. Financial Statements

Directors’ meetings

As a result of the Victorian Government’s Betrayal of Trust – Recommendations 26.1 and 26.2,
the Victorian Funding Guideline for Services to Children policy was changed. It now requires
that ‘a Funding Provider must ensure that a Funded Organisation with which it proposes
to reach a Funding Agreement is incorporated and appropriately insured, and maintains
its incorporated status and continues to hold appropriate insurance for the duration of the
Funding Agreement.’

Environmental regulations

5. Awards

Eligible to attend

Audit and Risk Committee

Attended Eligible to attend Attended

Most Rev. Terry Curtin

7

7

–

–

Mr Tim O’Leary 1

7

7

4

4

Ms Audrey Brown 2

3

3

–

–

Dr Helga Neidhart RSC

7

7

–

–

Mrs Maria Kirkwood

7

7

–

–

Mr Jim Miles

7

7

4

4

Mr Paul Desmond 3

7

7

–

–

–

–

4

4

Mr John Meneely 5

Mr John Hurren

1

1

–

–

Mr Tom Sexton

3

3

–

–

7

4

–

–

4

6

Rev. Justin Driscoll 7

Mr O’Leary has been appointed the new chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee and the CECV Deputy
Chair and Director on 11 February 2020.
1

Ms Brown, the previous Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat resigned from the
CECV Board, effective 3 July 2020.
2

3

Mr Desmond is the chairperson of the CECV Review Body Committee.

4

Mr Hurren is an external representative.

Mr Meneely was acting Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat and CECV Director from
6 July 2020 to 17 August 2020 (when Mr Sexton was appointed).
5

Mr Tom Sexton was appointed Director of Catholic Education in the Diocese of Ballarat effective
17 August 2020.
6

Archbishop Comensoli appointed Rev. Justin Driscoll, Administrator of St Patrick’s Cathedral Parish Ballarat,
as CECV Director effective 6 December 2019.
7

Proceedings on behalf of the company
During the year, no persons brought or intervened in any proceedings on behalf of the company.

The CECV Ltd has directors and officers liability insurance contracts for directors and officers
of the company. The insurance provides cover against claims made by reason of any wrongful
act committed or alleged to have been committed by a director or officer of the company.
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Auditor’s independence declaration
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The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
has been received and can be found on page 38 of the annual report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

DX: 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

477 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

On behalf of the directors
The Board of Directors
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited
James Goold House
228 Victoria Parade
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002

Mr Tim O’Leary

Mr Jim Miles

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Dated at Melbourne this 23 day of June 2021

23 June 2021
Dear Board Members
Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited
In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act
2012, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of Catholic
Education Commission of Victoria Limited.
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, I declare that to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Peter Glynn
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), its global network of member firms, and their
related entities. DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) and each of its member firms and their affiliated entities are legally
separate and independent entities. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network.
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The directors declare that:
a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in
accordance with requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission
Act 2012, including compliance with accounting standards and give a true and fair view of
the financial position and performance of the company.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to subsection 60.15 of
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Regulation 2013.

5. Awards

6. Financial Statements

Note

Income

3

CECV operations
Amortisation (ICON)
Mr Jim Miles

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Director of Catholic Education
Commission of Victoria Limited

Dated at Melbourne this 23 day of June 2021
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Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2020
31 December 2019
$

$

2,898,331,395

2,688,746,692

(2,860,206,235)

(2,662,657,934)

(22,317,237)

(16,882,956)

(8,697,808)

(8,691,453)

Continuing operations

Targeted programs/areas
distributions

Mr Tim O’Leary

8. Abbreviations

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020

Recurrent grant distributions

On behalf of the Directors

7. Appendices

Total expenses
Profit/(loss) for the year

4

(3,862,951)

(3,859,817)

(2,895,084,231)

(2,692,092,160)

3,247,164

(3,345,468)

–

–

3,247,164

(3,345,468)

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for
the year

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 41 to 49.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020
Note

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2020
31 December 2019
$

Cash and cash equivalents

6(a)

25,725,898

1,507,416

Receivables and other assets

7(a)

29,660

433,359

Prepayments

7(b)

3,457,366

3,754,262

29,212,924

5,695,037

8

Total non-current assets
Total assets

26,708,735

30,207,783

26,708,735

30,207,783

9

Total current liabilities

8. Abbreviations

Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended
31 December 2020
Note

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2020
31 December 2019
$

$

–

–

Accumulated funds
Balance at the beginning of the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

3,247,164

(3,345,468)

(3,247,164)

3,345,468

–

–

Balance at the beginning of the year

22,558,428

25,903,896

Transfer from/(to) accumulated funds

3,247,164

(3,345,468)

25,805,592

22,558,428

557,500

557,500

Transfer from/(to) ICON reserve

ICON reserve

55,921,659

35,902,820

29,558,567

12,786,892

29,558,567

12,786,892

Balance at the beginning of the year

Current liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses

7. Appendices

Balance at the end of the year

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

6. Financial Statements

$

Current assets

Total current assets

5. Awards

Balance at the end of the year

5

IT capital projects reserve
Transfer from accumulated funds

–

–

557,500

557,500

Total liabilities

29,558,567

12,786,892

Balance at the end of the year

Net assets

26,363,092

23,115,928

Total reserve at the end of the year

26,363,092

23,115,928

25,805,592

22,558,428

Total

26,363,092

23,115,928

557,500

557,500

Equity
ICON reserves
IT projects capital reserve

5

Accumulated funds
Total equity

–

–

26,363,092

23,115,928

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 41 to 49.

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 41 to 49.
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Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended
31 December 2020
Note

$

Cash flows from
operating activities
3,021,470,332

2,827,809,973

143,191,095

110,414,644

Interest received

1,936,110

4,059,141

Other operating receipts

6,816,677

3,536,568

(2,868,628,948)

(2,679,540,890)

(280,173,413)

(264,831,909)

24,611,853

1,447,527

Receipt of school levies

Distribution of government grants
Payments to suppliers
6(b)

Cash flows from
investing activities
Capital expenditure on intangibles
(WIP)

8. Abbreviations

Note Contents
1. General information
2. Significant accounting policies
4. Expenses
5. ICON reserves
6. Cash and cash equivalents
7. Receivables and other assets
8. Intangible assets
9. Creditors and accrued expenses
10. Financial instruments
11. Related party disclosures
12. Economic dependency
13. Subsequent events

8

Net cash used in investing activities
Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the financial year

7. Appendices

3. Income

Receipt of government grants

Net cash provided by
operating activities

6. Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2020

Financial year ended Financial year ended
31 December 2020
31 December 2019
$

5. Awards

6(a)

(393,371)

(780,033)

(393,371)

(780,033)

24,218,482

667,494

1,507,416

839,922

25,725,898

1,507,416

Notes to the audited financial statements are included on pages 41 to 49.
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1. General information
The Catholic Education Commission of Victoria Limited (‘CECV Ltd’ or ‘the company’) is a
company limited by guarantee and is registered with the ACNC as a charity. The members of
the company are the Archbishop of Melbourne and the Bishops of the Dioceses of Ballarat,
Sandhurst and Sale. The directors of the company are as below:
Most Rev. Terence Curtin STD DD VG EV
Mr Tim O’Leary (appointed on 11 February 2020)
Ms Maria Kirkwood
Dr Helga Neidhart RSC
Mr Paul Desmond
Mr Tom Sexton (appointed on 17 August 2020)
Rev. Justin Driscoll
Mr Jim Miles
There is currently no key management personnel remunerated directly by the CECV, as the
company has a Service Level Agreement with Melbourne Archdiocese Catholic Schools Ltd
(formerly Catholic Education Melbourne) to provide administration and back office services.
The company’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows:
James Goold House
228 Victoria Parade
EAST MELBOURNE VIC 3002
Postal address:
PO Box 3
EAST MELBOURNE 8002

2. Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in
accordance with reporting requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 (Cth), Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with
other requirements of the law. Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (A-IFRS) as relevant for not-for-profits. For the
purposes of preparing the financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity.
Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost. Cost is based on the
fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in
Australian dollars unless otherwise noted.
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The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and
presentation of the financial report:
a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

b) Employee benefits

There are no employees directly engaged by the Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria (CECV) Limited. All relevant services are provided via a Service Level Agreement
(SLA) with Melbourne Archdiocese Catholic Schools Ltd (formerly Catholic Education
Melbourne).

c) Financial assets

Receivables are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

d) Financial liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses (including distributions payable) are classified as ‘other
financial liabilities’ and are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. They
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability or where appropriate, a shorter period.

e) Income taxes

The company is exempt from paying income taxes. The company is not subjected to
capital gains tax or payroll tax but is liable for other taxes in accordance with Australian
and state government legislation.

f) Income

When the company receives government grants that are in the scope of AASB 1058
(being a transaction where the consideration paid to acquire an asset is significantly less
than fair value principally to enable the company to further its objectives), it performs
an assessment to determine if the contract is ‘enforceable’ and contains ‘sufficiently
specific’ performance obligations.

In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’
performance obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income
is recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. In all other cases the
transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 where the income is recognised upon receipt.
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Interest income is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest
rates applicable to the financial assets.

Cost recoveries received from Catholic Education Melbourne are recognised as income
as the transfers are received.

g) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of GST,
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax
Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or part of an item of expense.
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as operating cash flows.

h) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, the company will probably be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

j) Impairment of intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
In respect of not-for-profit entities, where the future economic benefits of an asset are
not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and value in
use cannot be determined. Recoverable amount is therefore determined by the fair value
less costs of disposal which is determined by the current depreciated replacement cost
being the price that would be received for the asset is based on the cost to a market
participant buyer to acquire or construct a substitute asset of comparable utility, adjusted
for obsolescence.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

k) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.
There are no material estimates or judgments applied in preparing these financial
statements.

l) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

Amendments to Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current
reporting period

The company has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to their operations
and effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2020.
New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the
current year that are relevant to the company include:
 AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Definition of Material
 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and AASB 2019-1 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework
 AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the
Effect of New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia.
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The application of these amendments did not have any material impact on the
disclosures or the amounts recognised in company’s financial statements.
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the company has not applied
the following new and revised Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and
amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective:
Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

Applicable from
year ended

AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial
Statements – Simplified Disclosures for ForProfit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities

1 January 2022 30 December 2022

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Annual
Improvements 2018–2020 and Other
Amendments

1 January 2022 30 December 2022

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current –
Deferral of Effective Date

1 January 2023 30 December 2023

The company does not expect any material impact on its financial position and performance, with the
adoption of revised Standards/Interpretations.

m) Retained earnings policy

On 24 April 2007, it was agreed the company would distribute its excess accumulated
funds to diocesan Catholic education offices. The methodology was that annual
distributions to diocesan Catholic education offices from excess accumulated funds be
based on the amount that exceeds the minimum level of accumulated funds (retained
earnings) being 0.1 per cent (%) of its total income. The variation to this policy for 2013
was due to the receipt of reward payments from the Australian and state governments,
which had been largely committed to the Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON)
as set out in Note 5 to the accounts. The ICON reserve is $25.8m as at 31 December
2020. The reserve has been created as a transfer from accumulated funds (between
equity accounts as these reward funds received have already been recognised as
income through the statement of comprehensive income). This is as per the CECV Board
approval to ensure that these funds are identified and committed for this purpose. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, there were nil distributions (2019: Nil) to diocesan
Catholic education offices under this policy from current year receipts.
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n) Net current asset deficiency

The company had a deficiency in net current assets of $345,643 (2019: Deficit of
$7,091,855). The company continues to undertake the ICON project, which is funded by
the levies charged to the schools. The deficiency will be addressed through the retention
of funds from future ICON levies. The directors are satisfied that the CECV can meet its
liabilities through the normal cyclical nature of grant funding received.

3. Income
Financial
Financial
year ended
year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
$

$

Grant income – Australian Government recurrent

2,200,647,719

2,047,074,042

Grant income – Australian Government targeted

11,774,060

10,206,140

2,212,421,779

2,057,280,182

518,237,549

499,177,146

Grant income – State Government recurrent
Grant income – State Government targeted

16,131,883

14,279,012

534,369,432

513,456,158

2,746,791,211

2,570,736,340

143,191,095

110,414,644

Interest income from bank deposits

1,936,110

4,059,141

Other income and cost recoveries

6,412,979

3,536,567

2,898,331,395

2,688,746,692

Total government grant income
School levies
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4. Expenses
a) Expenses by nature
Financial
Financial
year ended
year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Distribution to schools

Catholic Education Melbourne

Catholic Education Office Ballarat

Distribution to diocesan education offices

1,772,825,343

$

$

2,217,885,965

2,065,257,511

498,778,864

474,128,558

2,716,664,829

2,539,386,069

2,700,830,790

2,528,557,110

15,834,039

10,828,959

2,716,664,829

2,539,386,069

270,565,812
279,326,825
274,759,985

Consultancy fees
Other

Amortisation (ICON)

CECV operations expenses

Audit of the financial report and grant acquittals*
Amounts charged by CEM under the SLA
Computer costs

Consultancy fees
Other

Total expenses

255,678,185
259,085,772
251,796,769

2,716,664,829

2,539,386,069

48,422,997

40,987,033

9,260,696

9,392,925

11,148,244

Expenses incurred by the CECV in relation to schools

Long service leave contribution to Catholic education

b) Distribution to schools

1,892,012,207

Catholic Education Office Sale

Distribution to non-school organisations

Direct distributions to schools from grant income in 2020 was $2,716,664,829 (2019: $2,539,386,069)
which equates to 98.9% of government grant income being distributed (2019: 98.8%). Overall in 2020,
99.4% (2019: 99.3%) of government grant income was directly distributed to schools, or expended on
their behalf by the CECV.

Financial
year ended
31 December 2019

Catholic Education Office Sandhurst

Copyright expenses

8. Abbreviations

Financial
year ended
31 December 2020

Catholic Education Office Ballarat

Computer costs

7. Appendices

$

Catholic Education Melbourne

Amounts charged by CEM under the SLA

6. Financial Statements

$

Catholic Education Office Sandhurst
Catholic Education Office Sale

5. Awards

9,704,236

11,152,998

10,341,714

16,259,523

15,673,104

79,984,935

21,173,902
4,969,012

919,774

24,244,242
14,620,596
3,686,659

85,873,708
3,862,951
91,650

4,742,162

140,218
131,687

State government
Recurrent grants
Targeted programs

c) Distributions to diocesan education offices by source
Financial
year ended
31 December 2020

70,425,908

21,152,301
4,977,904
1,237,484

14,011,164
10,454,366
2,222,590

69,728,913

Australian Government
State government
Recurrent grants
Targeted programs

Financial
year ended
31 December 2019

$

$

73,501,737

64,371,911

6,483,198

6,053,997

79,984,935

70,425,908

73,501,737

64,371,911

6,483,198

6,053,997

79,984,935

70,425,908

3,859,817
97,700

4,892,348
299,193
135,314

3,592,091

3,266,898

2,895,084,231

2,692,092,160

8,697,808

Australian Government

8,691,453

*The auditor of the CECV is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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5. ICON reserves
The purpose of the Integrated Catholic Online Network (ICON) is set out in the executive
mandate of the project, which is a commitment of $150m over eight years from various
funding sources. The ICON initiative is a collaborative program of the CECV, involving
Victorian Catholic schools and the four Victorian Catholic education offices in the Archdiocese
of Melbourne and the dioceses of Ballarat, Sale and Sandhurst. ICON aims to support the
systemic improvement of all Victorian Catholic schools.
ICON will provide enterprise technologies, processes and services for all schools’ learning,
collaboration, administration, planning and reporting, and portal services that will evolve
and grow over time. ICON will be a single, flexible, centrally-managed platform, provided
as a service to all schools and Catholic education offices, to simplify and raise the bar with
significant improvement of technology and related services.
It will support collaboration and the connectedness of all Catholic education staff, parents
and students, and provide a common platform on which best practice can be shared. ICON
will be built as a consistent collection of evolving products to meet the current and emerging
software needs of schools, using best-of-breed providers.
ICON will also be built as a platform on which additional systems can be connected.
Driven by school practitioners and experts, ICON will be extended to provide further
learning opportunities using emerging technologies and more sophisticated school
administration tools.
ICON is at its core, a transformation enabling program. ICON will support school leaders,
teachers and staff to transform business processes and implement new operating paradigms
to enhance student learning and make school administrative processes more efficient.
ICON will provide an integrated platform comprising five functional areas – Portals, ePlan,
eLearn, eAdmin and Technology: Integration and Identity. Effective systems (incorporating
new processes) and training (supporting new skills) will be used for each functional area
ensuring Victorian Catholic schools can provide more comprehensive and sophisticated
services to support teaching and learning and to make school administration more
streamlined.
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6. Cash and cash equivalents
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand and in banks and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the financial year ended 31 December as shown in the cash
flow statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:
As at
As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
$

$

Cash and cash equivalents
25,725,898
1,507,416
b) Reconciliation of the surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
Financial
Financial
year ended
year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
$

$

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

3,247,164

(3,345,468)

Amortisation

3,862,951

3,859,817

29,467

–

Loss on assets write-off
Changes in assets and liabilities
Increase in receivables and other assets

403,699

(78,172)

Increase in prepayments

296,896

(2,531,481)

Increase in creditors and accrued expenses

16,771,676

3,542,831

Net cash from operations

24,611,853

1,447,527

The ICON reserve is $25.8m as at 31 December 2020. The reserve has been created as a
transfer from accumulated funds (between equity accounts as these reward funds received
have already been recognised as income through the statement of comprehensive income).
This is as per CECV Board approval to ensure that these funds are identified and committed
for this purpose.
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7. Receivables and other assets
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As at
As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Receivables

$

$

29,660

77,054

GST receivable
Receivables are normally settled on 30-day terms.

–

356,305

29,660

433,359

ICON system:		

10 years

ICON computers:

3 years.

Significant intangible assets
The company holds capital expenditure in relation to the ICON project. Amortisation of
intangible assets commences when the assets have been fully commissioned for use.

9. Creditors and accrued expenses
As at
As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

b) Prepayments

As at
As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Prepayments

$

$

3,457,366

3,754,262

Trade creditors

WIP
ROSAE

$
Balance as at
1 January 2019

WIP ICON
system

ICON
system

Total

$

$

$

11,247

–

555,440

32,720,881

33,287,568

Additions

–

–

780,032

–

780,032

Transfers

–

–

(82,973)

82,973

–

Amortisation

(4,820)

–

–

(3,854,997)

(3,859,817)

Balance as at
31 December 2019

6,427

–

1,252,499

28,948,856

30,207,783

Balance as at
1 January 2020

6,427

–

1,252,499

28,948,856

30,207,783

Additions

–

393,371

–

–

393,371

Transfers

–

–

–

–

–

(4,819)

–

–

(3,858,132)

(3,862,951)

–

(29,467)

–

(29,467)

1,608 393,371

1,223,032

25,090,724

26,708,735

Amortisation
Disposal/write-off
Balance as at
31 December 2020
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$
3,673,513

13,894,524

–

Amounts owed to other related parties

10,581,146

5,157,489

3,829,668

3,955,891

194,297

–

29,558,567

12,786,892

GST payable
1

$
1,058,932

Grants payable 1
Accrued expenses

8. Intangible Assets

Cost

8. Abbreviations

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation

a) Receivables

Plant &
Equipment
– ICON
computers

7. Appendices

$13,894,524 grants were receipted in late December 2020 and subsequently distributed in early January 2021.

Amounts are payable to various trade creditors of the company. All transactions with these suppliers have
been conducted at arm’s length, and are subject to the usual credit and repayment terms. Trade creditors are
normally settled on 30-day terms.
Accrued expenses and other non-trade payables are subject to the usual credit and repayment terms.
All transactions were conducted at arm’s length and have usual terms of 30 days.
For terms and conditions relating to amounts owed to other related parties, refer to Note 11.

10. Financial instruments
a) Capital and financial risk management objectives, processes and policies

As a company limited by guarantee, the CECV Ltd does not have any true ‘capital’
to manage. The company does not have any borrowings. Its principal activity is the
receipt of grant monies, which are allocated and distributed to schools and the diocesan
education offices. Capital growth is not an objective of the company as it is a notfor-profit entity and grant monies do not remain in the control of the company for any
extended period. The security of the funds received is essential to the CECV Ltd, as these
monies have to be paid out. Accordingly, grant monies are generally held by the CECV
Ltd in the form of cash and cash equivalents with the company’s banker. Grant monies
received by the CECV Ltd are disclosed separately in the income statement.
As the majority of its financial instruments are in the form of cash and cash equivalents,
the company is exposed mainly to interest rate risk as monies are held in a bank account,
returning a variable rate of interest. Other than its cash and cash equivalents, no financial
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assets or financial liabilities are interest-bearing. During the current reporting period, the
weighted average interest rate earned on cash and cash equivalents was 0.62% per
annum (2019: 1.58%). Because monies are not held for any significant period, and as
the CECV Ltd does not have as one of its objectives capital growth, the company does
not actively manage its interest rate risk exposure and accordingly, funds are subject to
fluctuations in the variable interest rate. A substantial part of grant monies is received in
three tranches during the calendar year. Consequently, the balance in the bank account
will fluctuate as grants are received and distributed. Further details about the company’s
sensitivity to interest rates are described below.

The CECV Ltd does not have significant credit risk exposure. The company deals only
with creditworthy entities and its receivables at the reporting date are with related entities.
Receivables are due to the company from parties related to the CECV Ltd by virtue of
their relationship with the Catholic Church.
The CECV Ltd does not have any significant exposure to liquidity risk as its principal
activity is the receipt and redistribution of grant monies. It is not committed to distributing
funds that it has not received. The company is entitled to use a percentage of recurrent
grant monies received for its operating expenses.
There has been no change to the company’s exposure to market risks and other risks or
how it manages and measures the risk.

b) Significant accounting policies and categories of financial instruments

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria
for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses
are recognised in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.
The CECV Ltd classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities (other than provisions)
into two categories: loans and receivables at amortised cost and financial liabilities at
amortised cost. The totals of these categories are disclosed below:

As at
As at
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
$

$

29,660

433,359

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
15,664,043
c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

12,786,892

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Other than cash and cash equivalents, the CECV Ltd’s financial assets and financial
liabilities consist of receivables, creditors and accrued expenses. The directors consider
that the carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities, which are
recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements, approximates their fair values.
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d) Interest rate sensitivity

The directors do not believe that any sensitivity analysis is representative of the interest
rate risk inherent in the cash and cash equivalents balance, as the company’s cash
balances can fluctuate significantly during the year.

11. Related party disclosures
a) Key management personnel

There is currently no key management personnel remunerated directly by the CECV, as
the company has a service level agreement with Catholic Education Melbourne to provide
administration and back office services.

b) Other related party transactions are disclosed below:

Transactions and balances with key management personnel of the CECV Ltd

A number of the directors hold positions in a diocese and schools that result in them
having control and significant influence over the financial and operating policies of these
entities. These schools receive allocations of grant monies from the CECV Ltd that are no
more favourable than those received by other systemic Victorian Catholic schools.
Transactions with (apart from the amounts disclosed under Note 13(a)) and amounts
receivable from or payable to key management personnel (including their related parties)
are on terms and conditions no more favourable than those it is reasonable to expect the
company would have accepted if dealing at arm’s length with an unrelated person.
Transactions and balances with the Catholic Education Melbourne

Catholic Education Melbourne charges the CECV Ltd one annual management fee
through a Service Level Agreement (SLA), to be paid in two instalments each year, for all
services performed on its behalf.
The annual fee will be negotiated each year and approved as part of the CECV Ltd
and Catholic Education Melbourne budget processes. The SLA is reviewed annually
by a board-appointed, non- Catholic Education Melbourne executive director and then
reported to the CECV Audit and Risk Committee, who then reviews and advises the
CECV for its approval.
The total amount charged by Catholic Education Melbourne under the SLA during the
current year was $21,001,685 (2019: $20,565,452). Related party transactions also
include levies collected and expenses paid on behalf of the CECV Ltd by Catholic
Education Melbourne.

The amount owed by the CECV Ltd to Catholic Education Melbourne as at the reporting
date is $10,581,146 (2019: Payable $5,157,489).

Grant distributions made to Catholic Education Melbourne in 2020 and disclosed in Note
4 of the financial report total $48,422,997 (2019: $40,987,033).
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Transactions and balances with other related parties

The CECV Ltd contributes monies to the Catholic Education Long Service Leave Scheme
on behalf of participating employers. During the financial year, the company contributed a
total of $24,244,242 (2019: $14,011,164) into the scheme on behalf of primary schools.
The amount owed to the scheme as at reporting date is nil (2019: $Nil).

Grant distributions made to the Ballarat, Sandhurst and Sale Catholic Education Offices
are disclosed in Note 4 of the financial report.
The company also has the following related parties’ transactions as payments:
Outstanding
amount Transactions

Australian Catholic Bishops Conference (ACBC)

$

–

864,180

–

42,145

Fraynework Multimedia

–

280

–

34,304

3

National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC) 4
1

$
Catholic Church Insurance 2

1
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12. Economic dependency
The company depends on Australian and Victorian government funding in the form of
recurrent grants for its continuing operation. Grants are only committed to schools when the
funding has been approved by the Australian and Victorian governments.

13. Subsequent events

Financial year ended 31 December 2020

Name of related party

5. Awards

There have been no transactions or events of a material and unusual nature between the end
of the reporting period and the date of the report likely, in the opinion of the directors of the
company, to affect significantly the operations of the entity, the results of those operations,
or state of affairs of the entity in future years.

The transactions relate to the levy collected by the CECV that is passed through the ACBC to the NCEC.

The transactions relate to school care ($526), directors and officers liability ($15,135), professional
indemnity ($3,677), public liability ($1,777), statutory liability ($2,895), fidelity guarantee ($4,191), and cyber
insurance ($13,944).
2

3

The transactions relate to costs incurred for video animation productions.

4

The majority of these transactions with the NCEC relate to legal fees.

Financial year ended 31 December 2019
The company also has the following related parties’ transactions as payments:
Outstanding
amount Transactions

Name of related party

$
Australian Catholic Bishops Conference (ACBC)

1

Catholic Church Insurance 2
Fraynework Multimedia 3
National Catholic Education Commission (NCEC)
1

4

$

–

835,876

–

1,258,606

–

1,890

–

34,304

The transactions relate to the levy collected by the CECV that is passed through the ACBC to the NCEC.

The transactions relate to school care ($1,188,166), directors and officers liability ($28,195), professional
indemnity ($6,651), public liability ($3,108), statutory liability ($5,236), fidelity guarantee ($7,359),
composite risks property ($5,451), and cyber insurance ($14,440).
2

3

The transactions relate to costs incurred for video animation productions.

4

The majority of these transactions with the NCEC relate to legal fees.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060
477 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia
DX: 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria Limited

Director’s Responsibilities for the Financial Report
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC Act and for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Entity or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Limited (the “Entity”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and
the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, and the Director’s declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Catholic Education Commission Victoria
Limited is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australia Charities and Not-for-profits Commission
Act 2012 (the ACNC Act), including:
(a) giving a true and fair view of the Entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of
its financial performance for the year then ended; and
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities
and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the ACNC Act and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Other Information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors’ report, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network.

30

Annual Report 2020

31

Page 50

1. Company Members & Directors

2. Chair’s Report

3. Committee Reports

4. School Achievement

5. Awards

6. Financial Statements

7. Appendices

8. Abbreviations

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Peter Glynn
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne, 23 June 2021
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Appendix: School and Student Statistics

Enrolments
In 2020 there were 397 primary, 98 secondary and 5 special schools providing Catholic
education to 211,378 students across Victoria. A breakdown of these enrolments is shown in
Table 2. A breakdown of enrolment percentages by diocese is shown in Figure 6.

Figure 6: Headcount
enrolment breakdown by
diocese (February 2020)

Table 2: Enrolments (headcount) in Victorian Catholic schools (February 2019 and
February 2020)
2020 figure

2019 figure

Change

Primary classes

108,920

108,994

–74

Secondary classes

101,840

100,520

1,320

Total regular

210,760

209,514

1,246

Archdiocese
of Melbourne
72.8%

Regular schools

Special schools
Primary classes

21

18

3

Secondary classes

597

516

81

Total special

618

534

84

Primary classes

108,941

109,012

–71

Secondary classes

102,437

101,036

1,401

Total all schools

211,378

210,048

1,330

Diocese of Ballarat
8.7%
Diocese of Sandhurst
9.2%
Diocese of Sale
9.3%

Source: DET Annual Schools Census February 2020
A breakdown of the composition of Year 7 is shown in Figure 7. Catholic primary schools
accounted for 72.3% of Year 7 enrolments in Catholic schools.

Figure 7: Year 7 enrolment
breakdown by student
sector origin 2020
Non-Catholic schools
27.7%

All schools

Catholic schools
72.3%
Source: DET Annual Schools Census February 2020

Source: DET Annual Schools Census February 2019 and February 2020
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Appendix: School and Student Statistics

Sector share of enrolments in Victoria

Staff in Catholic schools

Across all sectors in Victoria, Catholic schools accounted for 20.1% of primary and 22.8% of
secondary enrolments, as represented in Figures 8 and 9.

Catholic schools in Victoria were supported by 16,150.5 FTE teachers and 7033.2 FTE nonteaching staff as depicted in Table 3.

Figure 8: Sector share
of FTE enrolments in
Victorian primary
schools (February
2020)

Table 3: FTE staff in Victorian Catholic schools (August 2020)

Catholic schools
20.1%
Independent schools
11.3%
Government schools
68.7%

2020 figure

2019 figure

Change

Primary

7,682.4

7,501.2

181.2

Secondary

8,367.3

8,150.1

217.2

16,049.7

15,651.3

398.4

Regular schools

Total regular
Special schools
Total special

Source: DET Annual Schools Census February 2020

Figure 9: Sector share
of FTE enrolments in
Victorian secondary
schools (February
2020)

Teaching staff

100.8

83.0

17.8

16,150.5

15,734.3

416.2

Primary

2818.6

2619.1

199.5

Secondary

4118.1

3918.9

199.2

Total regular

6936.7

6538.0

398.7

96.5

97.0

–0.5

7033.2

6635.0

398.2

Total all schools

Catholic schools
22.8%
Independent schools
20.1%

Non-teaching staff
Regular schools

Special schools

Government schools
57.1%
Source: DET Annual Schools Census February 2020
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Abbreviations

AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

ECSI

Enhancing Catholic Schools Identity

ACARA

Australian Curriculum, Assessment and
Reporting Authority

EMP

Emergency Management Plan

ACBC

Australian Catholic Bishops Conference

EMV

Emergency Management Victoria

ACNC

Australian Charities and Not-forprofits Commission

EMWP

Emergency Management Working Party

ERC

Employment Relations Committee

ESL

English as a Second Language

FSA

Funding and Service Agreements

FTE

Full-time Equivalent

GAC(P)

Grants Allocation Committee (Primary)

GAC(S)

Grants Allocation Committee (Secondary)

GAC(TP)

Grants Allocation Committee
(Targeted Programs)

GST

Goods and Services Tax

ICON

Integrated Catholic Online Network

A-IFRS

Australian Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards

AM

Award of Member of the Order of Australia

ANU

Australian National University

ARC

Audit and Risk Committee

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

CAF

Choice and Affordability Fund

CECV

Catholic Education Commission of
Victoria Ltd

CEO

Catholic Education Office

CEM

Catholic Education Melbourne

CEVN

Catholic Education Victoria Network

CSS

Child Safe Standards

CSWP

Child Safety Working Party

CtC

Capacity to Contribute

DET

KU Leuven Katholieke Universiteit (Catholic University)
of Leuven

RCTC

Roman Catholic Trusts Corporation

RE

Religious Education

S&CB

Salary and Conditions Board

SES

Socio-economic status

SLA

Service Level Agreement

SRS

School Resource Standard

SWD

Students with Disability

TAFE

Technical and Further Education

VACPSP

Victorian Association of Catholic Primary
School Principals

VCAA

Victorian Curriculum and
Assessment Authority

VCAL

Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning

VCE

Victorian Certificate of Education

VCEMEA
2018

Victorian Catholic Education Multi-Enterprise
Agreement 2018

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

VET

Vocational Education and Training

NAPLAN

National Assessment Program – Literacy
and Numeracy

VicSRC

Victorian Student Representative
Council Limited

NCCD

Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on
Students with Disability

VRQA

Victorian Registration and
Qualifications Authority

Department of Education and Training

NCEC

National Catholic Education Commission

DMI

Direct measure of income

OAM

Medal of the Order of Australia

DOSCEL

Diocese of Sale Catholic Education Limited

OHS

Occupational Health and Safety

eAdmin

Administration System incorporating HR/
Payroll (eHR), Finance (eFin) and Student
Information System (SIS)

PAVCSS

Principals’ Association of Victorian Catholic
Secondary Schools

RBC

Review Body Committee
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